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Chairman’s Statement

EREE

To all shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Wah Wo
Holdings Group Limited (the “Company’), | am pleased to present the annual
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year").

The Group is a Hong Kong-based contractor engaged in facade works, which
mainly include windows, window wall system, curtain wall system and other
facade members. We principally provide design and build services for new
buildings and renovation services for built premises. The Group also engaged
in rental of investment properties.

During the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue from (i) construction
and ancillary service and (ii) rental of investment properties of HK$482.1
million, representing an increase of approximately 102.2% as compared to
approximately HK$238.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2024, which
was mainly due to the revenue contributed by some of our on-going projects
in execution-peak stage during the Year. The Group recorded a net profit of
approximately HK$16.8 million, represented an increase of approximately
HK$71.9 million when compared to the year ended 31 March 2024. For
the contributing factors of the increase in net profit, please refer to the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this report.

Looking ahead, while signs of economic recovery in Hong Kong are
encouraging, the Directors anticipate a challenging industry and business
environment. Several factors contribute to this situation: (1) The Group
faces headwinds from slowing industry growth and weak real estate market
demand, which limit opportunities for new residential projects — a core
focus of our Group's operations; (2) high interest rates and fiscal constraints,
exacerbated by the latest government budget deficit, have curtailed
government spending on infrastructure and housing, impacting both public
and private sectors while dampening developers confidence, leading to delays
or downsizing of construction projects; (3) rising construction costs, fueled by
higher prices for raw materials and energy, combined with persistent labour
shortages, are increasing project budgets and extending delivery timelines,
squeezing profit margins and straining operational efficiency. These challenges
are compounded by market supply-demand imbalances and affordability
issues, which disrupt residential sales and exert downward pressure on
property pricing, forcing developers to demand lower construction costs and
reducing the Group’s tender pricing power while heightening client credit
risks; (4) geopolitical tensions, including risks of trade disruptions, tariffs, and
conflicts, are suppressing global and local investor confidence, contributing
to project delays, halt or cancellations; and (5) the recent insolvency of a few
major construction groups in Hong Kong has also heightened credit risk
within the industry, posing further challenges to our operations.
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The Group will remain vigilant and closely monitor the development of
business operations. The Group will continue to adopt a more competitive
tender pricing policy and stringent control over the production costs in order
to achieve reasonable project’s gross margin.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THREWAS W

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is an established contractor engaged in fagade works with a focus
on window in Hong Kong. Facade works can be classified into window,
window wall system, curtain wall system and other facade members. We
principally provide design and build services for new buildings and renovation
services for built premises and rental of investment properties. Our services
generally include developing designs, conducting structural calculations
and preparing shop drawings, as well as management and coordination of
various aspects of a project which involve procurement of building materials
from material suppliers and/or subcontracting of installation works to our
subcontractors, on-site project management and post-project completion
and maintenance services.

Construction and ancillary services

Our design and build services are typically conducted on new buildings and
involve the installation of windows and other fagade components such as
metal doors, louvres, balustrades, grilles and canopy (referred to as “design
and build projects”). Our renovation services on the other hand are typically
conducted on built premises and usually involve the repair, replacement,
upgrade or maintenance of windows, metal doors and other fagade
components (referred to as ‘renovation projects’). We provide design
and build services and renovation services for different types of buildings,
including residential apartments, commercial buildings, retail premises,
universities and hotels in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has a total of 19 ongoing projects, each
with an awarded contract sum (exclusive of variation orders) of over
HKS5 million. The aggregate contract sums and the aggregated revenue
recognised (inclusive of variation orders and contract sum adjustments as at
31 March 2025) of these ongoing projects as at 31 March 2025 amounted to
approximately HK$975.3 million and HK$649.1 million respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Rental of investment properties

The Group have acquired investment properties and considered they
constituted a good investment opportunity that will offer a stable and
attractive rate of return for the Group. Following the acquisition of these
investment properties, the Group intends to lease them out for rental income
after undergoing renovation and sub-divided them into smaller workshops
or studio rooms according to approved plans and drawings. As of 31 March
2025, the Group possessed a total of seven investment properties. Three
of these investment properties had already been put on the market after
undergoing renovation, while other properties were undergoing renovations.
The segment for rental of investment properties recorded a profit of
approximately HK$1,479,000 (excluding fair value change on investment
properties of approximately HK$19,193,000) during the year ended 31 March
2025. The Group anticipates that the situation will gradually improve as more
investment properties are made available for lease in the future.

The Group recorded gross profit of approximately HK$55,732,000 for the
Year, as compared with the gross profit of approximately HK$21,250,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2024. The Group's gross profit margin for the Year
was approximately 11.6% as compared with approximately 8.9% for the
year ended 31 March 2024. The Group recorded a consolidated net profit
of approximately HK$16,827,000 for the Year, as compared with an audited
consolidated net loss of approximately HK$55,106,000 for the year ended
31 March 2024. The turnaround from loss to profit during the Year is mainly
attributable to (i) significant increase of revenue and gross profits from
construction and ancillary service due to some of our on-going projects in
execution-peak stage of approximately HK$242,028,000 and HK$33,015,000
respectively; and (ii) reversal of impairment loss allowance provision of
approximately HK$9,636,000 in current year, compared to approximately
HK$50,242,000 provision made last year following increased credit risk to the
Group's receivables after a major Hong Kong construction group wound up.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to actively explore and consider
any suitable development opportunities in the industry that can broaden our
revenue base and are beneficial to the Group and its shareholders as a whole.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THREWAS W

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue from (i) construction and ancillary service and (i) rental
of investment properties increased by approximately HK$243,698,000 or
approximately 102.2% from approximately HK$238,425,000 for the year ended
31 March 2024 to approximately HK$482,123,000 for the Year. The increase
in revenue was due to the revenue contributed by some of our on-going
projects in execution-peak stage during the Year.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
HKS$55,732,000, representing an increase of approximately 162.3% as
compared with approximately HK$21,250,000 for the year ended 31 March
2024. The Group's gross profit margin for the Year was approximately 11.6%,
as compared with approximately 8.9% for the year ended 31 March 2024. The
increase in gross profit was primarily driven by the substantial completion
of projects, while the improved gross profit margin was mainly due to the
Group recovering from losses incurred last year. These losses stemmed from
materials ordered or prepaid for certain construction projects, compounded
by the insolvency of a major construction group in last year.

Other Income, Gain and Losses

Other income, gain and losses of the Group for the Year amounted to losses
of approximately HK$17,353,000, representing an increase of losses of
HK$3,488,000 as compared with approximately HK$13,865,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The increase was mainly attributable to (i) decrease of
income from sales of scrap, (i) loss on disposal and write off of property, plant
and equipment, (iii) forfeit rental deposits, net off by the increase of (i) interest
income generated from bank deposits, and (i) gain on remeasurement upon
lease modification.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$23,091,000, representing an increase of approximately
23.1% as compared with approximately HK$18,751,000 for year ended 31
March 2024. The increase was mainly attributable to increase from annual
salary adjustment and the distribution of discretionary bonus for administrative
department; increase in legal and professional fee for recovering long-
outstanding contract assets and trade receivables and increase in marketing
expenses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis_

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group for the Year were approximately HK$394,000,
representing an increase of approximately 14.2% as compared with
approximately HK$345,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. The increase
was mainly attributable to the payments to the lease liabilities and the
increase in interest on mortgage loan during the Year.

Profit for the Year

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year increased by
approximately HK$16,827,000 or approximately 130.5% from the turnaround
from loss attributable to owners of approximately HK$55,106,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2024 to profit attributable to owners of approximately
HK$16,827,000 for the Year. The turnaround in the Group’s net loss to net
profit for the Year was mainly due to the reasons as mentioned in the sections
“Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin” and “Other Income, Gain and Losses”
above.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The shares were successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on the Listing Date and there has been no change in capital structure of the
Group since then.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Company’s issued capital was
HK$10,000,000 and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,000,000,000
of HK$0.01 each.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$53,208,000 (2024: approximately HK$30,704,000). The
Group had approximately HK$6,344,000 (2024: approximately HKS$6,701,000)
interest-bearing bank borrowings as at 31 March 2025.

All the Group's borrowings are arranged on a floating rate basis. The Group
will closely monitor and manage its exposure to interest rate fluctuations and
will consider engaging in relevant hedging arrangements when appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THREWAS W

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards
its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group's liquidity position to
ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities, and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements all the time.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had bank and other deposits amounting to
approximately HK$40,176,000 pledged to banks and insurance companies
(2024: approximately HK$18,288,000 pledged to banks) pledged for banking
facilities.

As at 31 March 2025, investment properties with carrying amount of
approximately HK$83,400,000 (2024: approximately HK$97,800,000) and
their respective rental assignments were pledged to secure certain banking
facilities.

As at 31 March 2025, investment properties with carrying amount of
approximately HK$83,400,000 (2024: approximately HK$97,800,000) and their
respective rental assignments were pledged as security for the Group’s bank
borrowings.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong. Most of the operating transactions
and revenue were settled in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi and the Group’s
assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi. The Group has no significant exposure to other foreign exchange
fluctuations. The Group did not engage in any derivatives agreement and
did not commit to any financial instrument to hedge its foreign exchange
exposure during the Year (2024: Nil).

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2025, the gearing ratio (calculated as total debts (including
lease liabilities and bank borrowings) divided by the total equity) was
approximately 3.1% (2024:approximately 5.3%).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the Year, the Group invested approximately HK$366,000 (2024:
approximately HK$1,946,000) and approximately HKS$1,593,000 (2024:
approximately HK$23,945,000) on the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment and investment properties respectively. Capital expenditure was
principally funded by internal resources.
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Management Discussion and Analysis_

LEASES

During the Year, the Group entered into a new lease arrangement with
Ms. Wong Chun Siu, the spouse of Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (“Controlling
Shareholder”), for the use of a warehouse and office premises.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into a lease
agreement for the use of office premise in People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
for 5 years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised HK$3,995,000
right-of-use assets and HK$3,995,000 lease liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group did not have capital commitments
contracted for property, plant and equipment.

As at 31 March 2025, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial
statements are guarantees given to banks for surety bonds of approximately
HK$60,646,000 (2024: approximately HK$25,147,000).

As at 31 March 2025, the surety bonds were secured by the pledge of
bank and other time deposits of the Group amounting to HK$40,176,000
(2024: HK$18,288,000) and corporate guarantee executed by the Company
amounting to HK$50,000,000 (2024: HK$50,000,000) respectively.

A subsidiary of the Group is named as defendant in several claims, lawsuits,
and potential claims. These mainly relate to employee compensation,
personal injury, and workplace safety issues. The Directors of the Company
have carefully considered each case and determined that the likelihood of any
financial outflows to settle these legal claims is remote. This is because these
claims are either fully covered by insurance or are immaterial to the overall
financial position of the Group. As a result, the Company has not found it
necessary to record any provisions for these contingent liabilities arising from
the ongoing litigations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THREWAS W

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries or associated companies.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

During the Year, the Group did not hold any significant investments.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any other plans for material
investments or capital assets.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed a total of 132 employees (including
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors), as compared
to a total of 96 employees as at 31 March 2024. Total staff costs which include
Directors’ emoluments for the Year were approximately HK$47,656,000 (2024:
approximately HK$36,602,000). The salary and benefit level of the employees
of the Group are competitive and individual performance is rewarded
through the Group's salary and bonus system. The Group conducts annual
review on the salary increase, discretionary bonuses and promotions based
on the performance of each employee. The emoluments of the Directors
are decided by the Board after recommendation from the remuneration
committee of the Company, having considered factors such as the Group’s
financial performance and the individual performance of the Directors, etc.
The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to Directors
and eligible employees. During the Year, the Group has not experienced
any significant problems with its employees due to labour disputes nor has it
experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff.
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Management Discussion and Analysis <

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that the risk management practices are important and uses its
best effort to ensure it has sufficiently mitigated the risks present in our operations
and financial position as efficiently and effectively as possible.

Our projects are non-recurring in nature and we generally have to go
through competitive tendering or quotation process to secure new
projects. Failure to continuously secure new projects could materially affect
our sustainability and financial performance;

Mismanagement or delay of project may materially affect our reputation
and financial performance;

We rely on building material suppliers and subcontractors to implement
our projects;

Under-performance by subcontractors or unavailability of subcontractors
may adversely affect our operations, profitability and reputation;

There may be net cash outflow during certain periods of our operations
due to payment practice and this may affect our ability to secure new
projects and expand our business;

Changes in the supply and costs of building materials, subcontracting fees
and other costs overruns may materially and adversely affect our operations
and profitability; and

Our success significantly depends on the key management and our ability
to attract and retain additional facade works design team staff.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

The Board is pleased to present to the shareholders their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and through its subsidiaries,
is principally engaged in the provision of aluminium works and related services
and rental of investment properties in Hong Kong. Details and particulars of
the Group's subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There
was no significant change in the Group's principal activities during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group for the Year and the discussion
on the Group's business development are set out in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Chairman’s Statement” on pages
6 to 13, and pages 4 to 5 of this annual report, respectively. The Group's
segment information and revenue for the Year are set out in notes 10 and 8
to the financial statements. The Group's key relationship with its stakeholders
(including employees, customers and suppliers) who have a significant impact
on the Group and on which the Group’s success depends, is set out in this
report. Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 13 of
this annual report. These discussions form part of the Report of the Directors.

Environmental, Social and Governance Policies

The Group is committed to protecting the environment, fulfilling social
responsibility and promoting employee benefits and development to
achieve sustainable growth of its business. For more details of the Group's
performances in environmental and social aspects, please refer to the
"Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the Year, the Group was not aware of material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the business
and operations of the Group.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the Board, in
declaring or recommending a payment of dividends, to allow shareholders of
the Company to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retains sufficient
reserves for future growth of the Group.

The declaration and payment of any dividends by the Company would be
subject to the Board's decision and any final dividend for a financial year of the
Company would be subject to the shareholders’ approval.

In deciding whether to recommend the payment of any dividends and the
amount of any dividends, the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

the general financial condition of the Group;
capital and debt level of the Group;

future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group's lenders;

the general market conditions; and
any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and any other applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 March 2025 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 75 to 173 of this annual report. The Board has resolved
not to recommend the declaration of final dividend to shareholders of the
Company for the Year.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRE

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting is scheduled to be held on 22
August 2025 (the "AGM"). For determining eligibility to attend and vote at
the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 19
August 2025 to 22 August 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to attend and
vote at the AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the share registrar of the Company in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 18
August 2025.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 18 to the financial statements of this annual
report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of investment properties of the Group during the Year are set out in
note 20 to the financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
SUPPLIERS

The approximate percentages of the Group's revenue and cost of sales
attributable to major customers and suppliers (which generally includes
subcontractors and material suppliers) during the Year and year ended 31
March 2025 are as follows:

Approximate % of total revenue:

from the largest customer SEAEPILE
from the five largest customers in aggregate AREFPAHIGE

Approximate % of total cost of sales:

BRI
from the largest supplier SAHIERGL
from the five largest suppliers in aggregate AAREEREE KL

\16 Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - =12 [% & B A R A7)

gEMERNBFELTTFE

FEEMR2025F8ANHRITEERRAFTARE
((RRBFEAE]) - REEEERFEAFAE
WHeE ERZEHER - AR EHHE2025F8 A
19 ZE2025F8sANE(BEEEMAB) HFEZ
PIERREZLFE  BHETZETARFTK
HBPER - AHEREAFAERNE L&
Z . ARMDBE X ERBEIRE N ARE
P2025%8 H18H NF MU =+ R B AR &
ERBROBEERRRE S EEFERLERAT (H
I AEBERBEISHRESHEOIE) o

YK - BERRE

RAFE  ARENWE  BERRBEESF
TBENAF RIS RAM 18

BREW=

AEERAFEEMNREMEFBHR AT R
FEHRFHTFE20 o

EREF - KAABRAER

AEBEFERFREEE(GBEBIENAHER
MEMERER ) RAFE RE ZE2025F3 8318 1k
FEREGHRE REERANBOE LT ¢

Year ended
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To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)) or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company's issued
share capital) had an any beneficial interest in these major customers or
suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Directors are of the view that employees, customers, sub-contractors and
suppliers are the keys to the sustainable development of the Group.

Employees

Employees are regarded as valuable assets of the Group. The objective
of the Group's human resource management is to reward and recognise
well-performed staff by providing a competitive remuneration package
and implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate
incentives. In particular, the Group promotes career development and
advancement by providing appropriate training and opportunities in order to
enhance the employees’ work performance.

Customers

The Group's major customers include main contractors for our design and
build projects while we are mainly engaged by owners and tenants of
properties, and their contractors for renovation projects. The Group has
established long-term business relationship with these customers for many
years and committed to offer quality service to meet their requirement. The
Group endeavours to maintain contacts with these customers regularly in
order to understand their needs and provide required service to support their
businesses.

Subcontractors and Material Suppliers

The Group has developed a long-standing relationship with a number
of subcontractors and material suppliers and the Group has always been
communicating closely with them to ensure that there will be good quality
and sustainable goods and services provided to the Group. When selecting
subcontractors and material suppliers, the Group often requires them to
satisfy certain criteria such as experience and capability, financial strength,
track record, and reputation.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

BANK BORROWINGS

The Group had approximately HK$6,344,000 (2024: HK$6,701,000) interest-
bearing bank borrowings as at 31 March 2025.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 31 to the financial statements of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and Group during the
Year are set out in note 33 to the financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 78 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, there is no reserve available for distribution to the
shareholders of the Company (2024: Nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Fai

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yu Chi Wing

Ms. Ding Xin

Mr. Yeung Yiu Man

In accordance with article 84 of the Company'’s articles of association (the
"Articles of Association”), one-third of the Directors will retire by rotation
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, provided that every Director shall retire at least once
every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Chen Yuet Wa and Ms. Ding Xin will retire
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. The Directors’ biographical
details are set out in the section headed “Biographies of the Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report. Information regarding Directors’
emoluments is set out in note 15(a) to the financial statements of this annual
report.
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Annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules has been received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Group considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors have entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of two years commencing from
the Listing Date, unless terminated by not less than three month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Year, no contract, other than the Directors’ service contracts and
appointment letters, concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the Company’s business was entered into or
existed.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 15(a) and 15(b) to the financial
statements.

During the Year, (i) there was no early termination of appointment of Directors,
and accordingly, no termination benefit was provided to or receivable by any
Director; (ii) no consideration was provided to or receivable by third parties
for making available Directors’ services; and (iii) save as disclosed in this
annual report, there were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour
of Directors, their controlled bodies corporate and connected entities, and
the Company’s holding company. No significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Group's business to which the Company was
a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ"))
held by the Directors and chief executive of the Company which have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO or have been entered in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise have been notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code”) in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules are as follows:

(i) Long position in our shares

Name of Director

EEHR

Capacity/Nature
73

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa
(note)

BREBESE L Ry AE S ()

Note: 750,000,000 shares are registered in the name of Ornate Bright Limited
("“Ornate Bright”), the entire issued capital of which is legally and
beneficially owned by Mr. Chen Yuet Wa, our executive Director. By virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Chen Yuet Wa is deemed to be interested in all the shares
held by Ornate Bright.

(ii) Long position in the shares of associated corporation

Name of
associated
corporation

HBEE A

Capacity/

Nature

gt 1HE

Name of Director

EEMR

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa Ornate Bright Beneficial Owner
PRESEE o R EmfAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as it is known by or otherwise notified by any
Director or the chief executive of the Company, the particulars of the
corporations or individuals (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) who had or were deemed or taken to have an interest or short
position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the shares

Capacity/Nature of interest

50 EEME

Ornate Bright Beneficial owner (note 1)
2 et Z-UNCiE=3D)
Ms. Wong Chun Siu Interest of spouse (note 2)
EHEXL T Ao fd s (P sE2)

Notes:

1. Ornate Bright is wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Yuet Wa.

2. Ms. Wong Chun Siu is the spouse of Mr. Chen Yuet Wa and is deemed or taken
to be interested in all the shares in which Mr. Chen Yuet Wa has, or is deemed to
have, an interest for the purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company had not been
notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that compete or may compete,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any other conflicts
of interest which any such person has or may have with the Group and is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the
Year and up to the date of this annual report.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Chen Yuet Wa and Ornate Bright (together as “Controlling
Shareholders"), which is beneficially and wholly owned by Mr. Chen Yuet Wa,
as a covenantor (each a “Covenantor’, collectively, “Covenantors’) entered
into a non-competition undertaking dated 12 December 2019 in favour of the
Group (the “Non-Competition Undertaking").

Each of the Covenantors has made an annual declaration to the Company
that, he/it has complied with the terms of Non-Competition Undertaking. The
Independent Non-executive Directors have also reviewed the compliance of
the Non-Competition Undertaking from the Covenantors and were satisfied
that the Covenanters have complied with the Non-Competition Undertaking
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for Directors’
and officers' liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising from corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their
respective offices, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through
their own fraud or dishonesty.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed, no transaction, arrangement or contracts of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or any entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed, no contract of significance to which the
Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in
which the controlling shareholders’ of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year and up to the date of this annual report was the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any body corporate.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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CONNECTED/RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Connected transaction

On 1 August 2020, the Group entered into a lease arrangement with Ms.
Wong Chun Siu, the spouse of the Controlling Shareholder, for the use of
a warehouse and office premises with fixed lease period of one year and
optional lease period of five years. Upon initial recognition, in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 16 Leases ("HKFRS 16")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability of approximately
HKS7,206,000. Pursuant to the supplemental agreement signed in December
2020, the lease period was changed to fixed lease period of three years and
upon its expiration, it shall be renewable for an additional three years subject
to agreement of terms by both parties. The right-of-use asset and the lease
liability were reduced by approximately HK$3,603,000 and HK$3,447,000
respectively.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the lease agreement
(“existing lease agreement’) calculated based on the value of the right-
of-use asset recognised by the Group pursuant to HKFRS 16 exceeds 0.1%
but is less than 5%, the transaction contemplated under the existing lease
agreement are subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but
are exempted from independent shareholders’ approval requirement under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the existing lease arrangement were disclosed in the
announcements of connected transaction of the Company dated 10
December 2020 and supplemental announcement dated 11 January 2021.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and the Year, the Group re-entered
into two separate one-year short-term lease arrangements with Ms. Wong
Chun Siu, the spouse of controlling shareholder of the Group, for a warehouse
and office premise in Hong Kong.

Continuing connected transactions

The related party transaction as disclosed in note 37(b) to the financial
statements of this annual report constituted continuing connected
transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules. Details of such
transactions have been disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules and summarised below:

Lease payments paid to Ms. Wong Chun Siuy,
the spouse of the Controlling Shareholder (note)

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - =12 [% & B A R A7)
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Note:

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and the Year, the Group re-entered into two
separate one-year short-term lease arrangements with Ms. Wong Chun Siu for the use
of a warehouse and office premises upon the expiration of prior lease arrangement. Ms.
Wong Chun Siu is the spouse of the Controlling Shareholder, therefore, Ms. Wong Chun
Siu is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, both transactions contemplated under the existing and
new lease agreements constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company.

As each of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) in respect of the
continuing connected transactions contemplated under the existing lease agreement
and new lease agreement (on an annualised basis) fulfilled the exemption of de minimis
transactions under Listing Rules 14A.76 and were therefore exempted from reporting,
annual review and independent shareholders’ approval.

Details of the existing lease arrangement were disclosed in the announcements of
connected transaction of the Company dated 10 December 2020 and supplemental
announcement dated 11 January 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there were no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company as defined under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business are set out in the note 37 to the financial statements of this
annual report. Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions
as disclosed constituted disclosable non-exempted connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and
the Company had complied with the relevant requirements of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules during the Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme was conditionally adopted by the Company on
12 December 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and shall be valid until
12 December 2029. Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, certain eligible
participants including, among others, the Directors and employees of the
Group may be granted option to subscribe for shares. The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to participants for
their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group. A Summary of principal terms of the Share Option Scheme is set
out in the paragraph headed “D. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the
Prospectus.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and in compliance with the
provisions in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the maximum number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and all share option schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 100,000,000 shares, being 10% of the shares in issue as at the date
of this annual report.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme to eligible
participants in any 12 months period up to the date of grant shall not exceed
1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of options
in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of shareholders in a
general meeting.

An offer of the grant of a share option shall be accepted by the eligible
participants within a period of seven days from the date of offer of grant of the
option. The consideration paid by each grantee for the acceptance and grant
of each share option is HK$1.00, which has to be paid within seven days.

Unless approved by shareholders in a general meeting, the amount of shares
which can be awarded to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director or their respective associates in the Share Option Scheme
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant for any
particular aforementioned person in aggregate, is at maximum 0.1% of the
shares in issue and having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the shares at the date of each grant, of a maximum of HK$5.0 million.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as determined by the
Board and shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date
of grant of the option, which must be a trading date; (i) the average of the
closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five trading dates immediately preceding the date of grant of
the option; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been granted.
Therefore, no option was exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the Year and
there was no option outstanding as at 31 March 2025.

\
\ Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - =12 [% & B A R A7)

RIEERET S NIERRET EMRAEI7E
BESC - RITERRBERER ESI R AN AFME
BT EIR A BAREE A FEITA&
=A% E B T 15781B100,000,0008% » BIAF3RH
HIE BT TARID #10% ©

BERGDBHRNERN T —EAHEA - RTE
BRAEZATRTAER2BALHNERE
BREBTRATETORNDAHETSBERL
B D TR #91% » BRIMX B IBRZ 1% LR
I B AR R N BUER RS L ©

BREBRENENTHAER2EALTERY
BREZEXN AHE7R AT RER - SARAE
IR A S R R R s PR (B R 0087 - X
BR7 BT

BROFERRA S CEFRRIAE - TRREK
BB+ —EABRANEE B EREAL
BREBM(BEZB) AR T EERRIBIIE
HITESHEZBRBANBROBEARES
REETRMOE0.1% - BRERRE B HHK
M ERSE - HBEERSR088BT °

IRIB AR 8T H O E 45 E B IR AT
EHOBRORBBERAESTSETNERRTE
PRATZ&RE  (RELEREAR(AR
X5 BB R RSB RERAREHE
RPN EERLERER R AERS AE
B 2P B RERMWFHWHE + ik
H1E °

B ANIEARAE ST B AT - AN A B BE IR A
BERRHE - At - ANFE A EBRRAEEITE
FESHT AR - BT IR 20253 A31 B
RITE -



EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme disclosed, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted
at the end of the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company
has maintained a sufficient amount of public float for the shares as required
under the Listing Rules during the Year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 39 to the financial statement of this annual report,
the Group had no other significant events after the reporting period up to the
date of this report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holdings of the securities. If the shareholders
are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in or exercising of any rights in relation to the Company’s securities,
they are advised to consult their professional advisers.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited by RSM
Hong Kong, who will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM of the
Company and be eligible to offer themselves for re-appointment. RSM was
reappointed at 2022, 2023 and 2024 AGM of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE TEER

The Group has complied with all the applicable code provisions under the ~ BR{EEE AR E R FFEBENRRCEEATE
CG Code during the Year and up to the date of this annual report except for ~ EJSFRE X EC21IEIN » REBRAFEENE
the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as explained in the EARFERBA BT EEASTRINFTAEB
Corporate Governance Report. SFRE ©

The details of the Group's corporate governance practices are set out in the BREAEBCEEAEENFBHNAFRE
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” from pages 32 to 45 of this ~ 32E45BE M DEE GRS |—50 -
annual report.

On behalf of the Board REREEE

Chen Yuet Wa PR &R

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer EERITBADE,
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025 B 2025F6 A30R
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Manage;nent

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa, aged 47, is the founder of our Group, our Chairman,
our executive Director, our chief executive officer and one of our Controlling
Shareholders. He is also the chairperson of our nomination committee and
a member of our remuneration committee. He is primarily responsible for
overall business strategy, annual budget proposals and major business
decision of our Group. He is also a director of each of our Group’s subsidiaries.

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa found our Group in May 2007 and has more than 18 years
of experience in the facade works industry. In April 2002, he established Wa
Kee Company, a sole proprietorship in Hong Kong which principally engaged
in the provision of aluminum window works in Hong Kong. Wa Kee Company
subsequently ceased business in March 2011 after the establishment of Wah
Kee in May 2007.

Mr. Chan Fai, aged 48, is one of our executive Directors. He is primarily
responsible for project management and supervision of our subcontractors’
work.

Mr. Chan has more than 22 years of experience in the construction industry
in Hong Kong. Since April 2010, he has been working for our Group and is
currently the general manager of Wah Kee.

Mr. Chan obtained a certificate of completion of apprenticeship issued by
Office of the director of apprenticeship in December 2002 and a higher
diploma in building studies from the Vocational Training Council in July 2006.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Chi Wing, aged 41, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director ("INED") on 12 December 2019. He is also a member of our audit
committee and nomination committee. He is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgement to our Board, our audit
committee and nomination committee.

Mr. Yu has more than 19 years of advisory, accounting, taxation and auditing
experience. In September 2016 and May 2021, Mr. Yu founded JR & Co.,
Certified Public Accountants and co-founded Emerald Capital CPA & Co.
respectively. He has been an INED of Fameglow Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
8603) since September 2018, GC Construction Holdings Limited (Stock code:
1489) since October 2022 and was an INED of WellCell Holdings Co., Limited
(Stock code: 2477) from December 2023 to September 2024.
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Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor of arts degree with a major in accountancy and
a minor in corporate finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
June 2005. He was admitted as a member in January 2012 and is currently a
practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Ding Xin, aged 37, was appointed as an INED on 30 August 2024.
She is also the chairperson of our audit committee and a member of our
remuneration committee. She is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board, our audit committee and
remuneration committee.

Ms. Ding has more than 12 years of experience in accounts, audit, and
assurance. Ms. Ding has been an INED of China Wacan Group Company
Limited (formerly known as "Hands Form Holdings Limited") (stock code:
1920) since April 2022 and Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
6829) since December 2024.

Ms. Ding holds a bachelor degree of Business Administration in Accounting
and Finance from The University of Hong Kong. She has been a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since March 2014. She
is currently practicing as a certified public accountant.

Mr. Yeung Yiu Man, aged 63, was appointed as an INED on 11 March 2025.
He is also the chairperson of our remuneration committee and a member of
our audit committee and nomination committee. He is primarily responsible
for supervising and providing independent judgement to our Board, our audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee.

Mr. Yeung possesses a wide spectrum of experience in the property industry,
and has been active in property developments for more than 35 years. From
March 2011 to November 2021, Mr. Yeung served the group of Wang On
Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 1222). Since October 2022, Mr. Yeung has
been serving as the commercial director of Chun Sing Engineering Company
Limited.

Mr. Yeung obtained a master degree of science in management from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1997. He was admitted as a
member of the Chartered Institute of Building in May 1992 and was elected as
a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors in November 2008.
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management_

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lam Mau Yuen, aged 52, is the senior design manager of our Group. He
is responsible for overseeing general technical and engineering works, tender
preparation and compliance matters. Mr. Lam has been working for our Group
since March 2017. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Lam worked for various
construction and engineering related companies and he has more than 24
years of experience in the construction industry. Mr. Lam obtained a higher
certificate in building studies from the Vocational Training Council in July
2002.

Mr. Lee Kai Ming, aged 36, is our financial controller and company secretary.
He is responsible for overseeing our financial reporting, financial planning,
treasury, financial control and company secretarial matters. Mr. Lee has over
six years of experience in the accounting industry and he has been working
for our Group since February 2018. Mr. Lee obtained a bachelor of business
administration in accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2012. He was admitted as a certified public accountant of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in September 2016.

Mr. Lee Ka Keung, aged 41, is a senior quality control manager of our
Group. He is primarily responsible for overseeing the execution of projects
and supervising workers at construction sites. He has been working for our
Group since June 2011. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Lee worked for several
construction companies and he has more than 13 years of experience in the
construction industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee obtained a diploma and a higher
diploma in building services engineering from the Vocational Training Council
in July 2005 and February 2011, respectively. Mr. Lee completed a construction
safety supervisor course organised by the Construction Industry Training
Authority in November 2007.
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The Company strives to attain and maintain a high standard of corporate
governance as it believes that effective corporate governance practices are
fundamental to enhancing shareholders’ value and safeguarding interests of
shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Board attributes a high
priority to identifying and implementing appropriate corporate governance
practices to ensure transparency, accountability and effective internal controls.

The Company has adopted all the code provision in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code") in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (currently Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules) as its own code on corporate governance practices.
During the Year, the Company has complied with the code provisions
under the CG Code, except for the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code as explained below. The Company will continue to enhance its
corporate governance practices appropriate to the operation and growth of
the business of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for formulating business strategies and monitoring
the performance of the business of the Group. Other than the daily operational
decisions which are delegated to the management of the Group, most of
the decisions are made by the Board. All Directors, including independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

Saved as disclosed in an announcement of the Company dated 21 February
2025, following the passing away of Mr. Wu Wing Kuen, the number of INED
falls short of the minimum number required under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing
Rules for the period from 17 February 2025 and before the appointment
of Mr. Yeung Yiu Man on 11 March 2025, the Company has complied with
Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules during the Year. The Board is
constituted of five members, including two executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Fai

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yu Chi Wing

Ms. Ding Xin

Mr. Yeung Yiu Man
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On 29 August 2024, Mr. Chow Chi Fai and Mr. Chan Hon Ki resigned as INED
and on 30 August 2024, Mr. Wu Wing Kuen and Ms. Ding Xin were appointed
as INED. Following Ms. Ding Xin becoming the Board member, the Company
has achieved the gender diversity at the Board level and complied with the
requirement under Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules.

Both Mr. Wu Wing Kuen and Ms. Ding Xin have obtained the legal advice as
required under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 30 August 2024, and each of
them has confirmed that he/she understood his/her obligations as a director
of the listed issuer under the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in an announcement of the Company dated 21 February 2025,
following the passing away of Mr. Wu Wing Kuen, the number of independent
non-executive Directors falls short of the minimum number required under
Rule 3.10(1) and the relevant committee member under Rule 3.21, 3.25 and
3.27A of the Listing Rules. The Company would seek to appoint a new INED as
soon as practicable and within three months as stipulated under Rules 3.10(1),
3.11,3.23,3.27 of the Listing Rules.

On 11 March 2025, Mr. Yeung Yiu Man was appointed as INED. Following Mr.
Yeung Yiu Man becoming the Board member, the Company in compliance
with the requirements in relation to (i) the number of independent non-
executive directors under Rules 3.10(1); (i) the number of members of the
Audit Committee under Rule 3.21; (iii) the chairmanship and composition
of Remuneration Committee under Rule 3.25; and (iv) the composition of
Nomination Committee under Rule 3.27A. As such, the Company has fully
complied with the requirements as set out in Rules 3.10(1), 3.21,3.25 and 3.27A
of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Yeung Yiu Man has obtained the legal advice as required under Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on 11 March 2025 and he has confirmed that he
understood his obligations as a director of the listed issuer under the Listing
Rules.

Biographical details of each Director are set out on pages 29 to 31 of this
annual report.

The Company has signed a letter of appointment with each of the
independent non-executive Directors on 12 December 2019. The principal
particulars of these appointment letters are (a) each of them agreed to act for
an initial term of two year commencing from the Listing Date with a director’s
fee, which may be terminated by not less than three month’ written notice
served by either party on the other, and (b) is subject to termination provisions
therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Articles.
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Pursuant to the article 84 of Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors
shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years.
However, a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report. The Company has
also complied with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. One of the independent
non-executive Directors possesses the appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management expertise.

During the Year, four Board meetings and one annual general meeting were
held and the attendance record of each Director is set out in the table below:

4
7
7z

/!

RIBASERAAEE =02 —HNES
REBFBFAS LHERE AREFAE
PE3FHERE—R MEAEFCERER
B -

ARREREEBIIIFNTESRE LTRA
FIDBERELENFEBILIEER - RAFRE
ERBIUNFNTEETRAFEREENFRA
BT AN EMRAIE3 3R B IERES]
WARBZ IS Z EFHRBEBILAL - RAFIND
B EHRANFE3I0QENRE - —RBILIFH
TEFARABEXEHTERLMBERER
A o

RAEE  ARRRTHREZTEEZ R KX
BRBFAE  SEFHFOLEHNTEK

Attendance/Number of Meeting

HERE SRR
Annual
General
Board Meeting Meeting
Directors EEEEE RERBERSE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa BRELZESE A

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (FEFTHAEE) 4/4 1
Mr. Chan Fai PRIESE A 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors B JEH{TEE
Mr. Chow Chi Fai (resigned on 29 August  EEIB A (72202448 A 29 H BHE)

2024) 1/4 11
Mr. Chan Hon Ki (resigned on 29 August BRIE SH I A (72202448 A 29 H BHT )

2024) 1/4 11
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEREE 4/4 1/1
Ms. Ding Xin (appointed on 30 August 2024) T Bf 22 (72024F8 A30 B EZ(T) 3/4 0/1
Mr. Wu Wing Kuen (appointed on 30 August A7k 78 4 (7220248 A30H

2024 and deceased on 17 February 2025)  ER(T - H1E1 202562 H17H

BFi) 1/4 0/1
Mr. Yeung Yiu Man (appointed on 11 March i3 12 R Je 4 (7202593 A118
2025) ERE) 1/4 0/1
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Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials, and the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the
liberty to seek independent professional advice at the Company's expense
if so reasonably required. Directors will be continuously updated on the
major development of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practices. The Company expects to convene at least four regular
Board meetings in each financial year at approximately quarterly intervals in
accordance with code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code.

According to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of the chairman
and the chief executive officer of the Company should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. During the Year, the role of the
chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company are both performed
by Mr. Chen Yuet Wa. In view of Mr. Chen Yuet Wa's role in the day-to-day
management and operations of the Group, being one of the Controlling
Shareholders of the Group and as one of the Directors if not the sole director
of other members of the Group, as at the date of this annual report, the Board
believes that it is more effective and efficient overall business planning and
implementation of business decisions and strategies of the Group that it shall
be in the best interests of the Group for Mr. Chen Yuet Wa to take up the
dual roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. Therefore,
the Board considers that the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code is appropriate in such circumstance and that there are sufficient checks
and balances in place by the operations of the Board, which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals and adequate independent element
in the composition of the Board. The Board will continue to review and
consider splitting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account
the circumstances of the Group as a whole. The Directors are aware that the
Company is expected to comply with the CG Code. Any deviation from the CG
Code should be carefully considered and disclosed in the interim and annual
report. Save as disclosed above, the Company will continue to comply with
the CG Code to protect the best interests of the shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the transactions of
securities of the Company by the Directors and the relevant employees (who
likely possess inside information of the Company) (the “Securities Dealing
Code") on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. All Directors
have confirmed, following specific enquiries by the Company, that they fully
complied with the Model Code and the Securities Dealing Code during the
Year.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Company encourages the Directors to attend any relevant programme
to further enhance their knowledge so as to enable them to discharge their
duties and responsibilities more effectively. Prior to the Listing Date, all
Directors have been given relevant guideline materials and attended a training
regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the CG Code, the
Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations and duty of disclosure of
interest. Such induction materials and briefing will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors. Continuing
briefings and professional development to Directors will be arranged from
time to time.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code provision
C.14 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. During the period under review,
all Directors have participated in continuous professional development by
attending seminars/in-house briefing/reading materials to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills.

All Directors have provided record of their training attendance and the
Company will continue to arrange and fund the training in accordance with
the CG Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit committee
the “Audit Committee”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the “"Remuneration
Committee”). The table below provides the membership information of these
committees on which certain Board members served:

Director

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa BREZESE 4
Mr. Chan Fai R e ST A
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FRE&EE
Ms. Ding Xin THrTR+
Mr. Yeung Yiu Man SRR E

Notes:

C: Chairman of the relevant committees
M: Member of the relevant committees
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 12 December 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include, among others, (@) making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditors
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors; (b) reviewing the Company’s financial statements, the annual report
and accounts and the half-year report and significant financial reporting
judgments contained therein; and (c) reviewing the Company’s financial
controls, internal control and risk management systems.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has held three meetings to review the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and the financial
results for the six months ended 30 September 2024 and the Year, whether
there was any significant issues on financial reporting, internal control and
risk management systems and the re-appointment and remuneration of the
external auditor. The individual attendance record of each member at the
meeting of Audit Committee is set out below:

EZEE®
AAFDR2019F12 8128 R FHEAIE322
&R EEETRIASTRHE X EDIIEM T
BZEeUHITEERERE  BZEEY
FTEBER(HPBRB)QRET  BELER
INEBIZEMRmE RS ELHEERG  WHAS
HESNEBAZ BB 2 BN 2 6658 - BRI ARR] 2
Bk« FHRLEE FFEERSREFPFT
BN EAMBEREHE 0 ROBEARFZH
FREEPE  NEREEIE KRG B IR R AT o

RAFE BERZBERTTZRGHE  UE
BIARERBIRAR & 5t R B K 1B I JA K L 2024
FOANAUEARNEARKRFENMEES - 7
PR TSEE SR - MRS M AR B IR R ISNE
BEEMNETRFH I ERS FEENEAR
B ERBHFEZZB RN ERLEL
SREIIAT

Attendance/
Number of Audit
Committee Meeting

HERE
EREEE
Name of member of the Audit Committee ERZEERENB BRRHY
Ms. Ding Xin (Chairlady) (appointed on 30 August 2024) T (FE)
(PR20245F8 A30 R EZ(E) 3/3
Mr. Chow Chi Fai (resigned on 29 August 2024) BEIB A (FR20245E8 B 29 A BHT) 0/3
Mr. Chan Hon Ki (resigned on 29 August 2024) PR SH 2 4 (FA20244E8 A 29 A BHT) 0/3
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEEEE 3/3
Mr. Wu Wing Kuen (appointed on 30 August 2024 and HASXAE 5 A (PR20244F8 H30H
deceased on 17 February 2025) R - BiEm202592 4178
Bit) 1/3
Mr. Yeung Yiu Man (appointed on 11 March 2025) SRR STE(R2025F38118
BEZRE) 2/3

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 12 December
2019 with written terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.3.1
of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include,
among others, (a) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the corporate strategy; (b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (c) assessing
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (d) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
and succession planning for the Directors; (e) reviewing the board diversity
policy of the Company (“Board Diversity Policy”); and (f) developing and
reviewing, as appropriate, the policy for the nomination of Directors.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee has held three meetings to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board, the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors, the Board Diversity Policy and
the Nomination Policy as well as to consider and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of new Directors and reappointment of
the Directors standing for re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company and the attendance record of each Director is set out in the table
below:

Name of member of the Nomination Committee

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Hon Ki (resigned on 29 August 2024)
Mr. Yu Chi Wing

Mr. Yeung Yiu Man (appointed on 11 March 2025)

THEREE

ERE)
Ms. Ding Xin (appointed on 30 August 2024)

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 12 December
2019 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and code provision E.1.2 the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee, under the principle that no Director or any
of his associates should be involved in deciding his own remuneration
include, among others, making recommendations to the Board on (a)
the remuneration policy and structure for all of the Directors and senior
management; (b) the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policies; (c) the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their offices or appointments; and (d) the
remuneration of the non-executive Directors.
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During the Year, four meetings were held to review the remuneration policy ~ RARGEE » 2217 TR S H BT NEBNITE
and package of the executive Directors and senior management of the Group, ZEXREREEEMNHFMBERMEAR - WKk
and reviewing the remuneration of the non-executive Directors and the ITEEZMHI - MESESOHFELEEH IR
attendance record of each Director is set out in the table below: T :

Attendance/
Number of Remuneration
Committee Meeting

HERE,
FMEES
Name of member of the Remuneration Committee FMMEESERENSE BEIXE
Mr. Yeung Yiu Man (Chairman) BRRFLE(FE)
(appointed on 11 March 2025) (R2025F3 A1 BHERT) /4
Mr. Wu Wing Kuen (appointed on 30 August 2024 and HAoK S A (P 202448 A30H
deceased on 17 February 2025) TR - BER202592H17R°
Frith) 0/4
Mr. Chan Hon Ki (resigned on 29 August 2024) PR SH 2 4 (FA20244E8 A 29 A BHT) 1/4
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa PR A ST A 4/4
Mr. Chow Chi Fai (resigned on 29 August 2024) EERE S A (202458 29 BHE) 1/4
Ms. Ding Xin (appointed on 30 August 2024) THr 224 (7202458 B30 B EERE) 3/4

Full details of remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid AR EELAZESFMA L2 HEH 2 MFE
employees are set out in notes 15(a) and 15(b) to the financial statements of  F{FIRANFERITEFRE M 5E15@) K2 15(b) ©
this annual report.

No material matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the RAFEE @ HEAKLHFMNES @ EBHIIED
Listing Rules were required to be reviewed or approved by the Remuneration AR FHiRRISE1 7S BRI EINEAEE -

Committee during the Year.
y
/
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy which sets out the approach
to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the Company and
also to enhance the quality of performance of the Company. In designing
the Board's composition, the Board has been considering from a number
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills, and
knowledge. The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy from time to
time to ensure its continued effectiveness and monitor its implementation by
conducting review of the Board's composition at least once annually.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
for the purpose to identify and evaluate a candidate for nomination to the
Board for appointment or to the shareholders for election as a Director. The
Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the following criteria in
evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

Reputation for integrity;

Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the relevant industry
and other relevant sectors;

Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention to the
Company's business;

Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, experience (professional or otherwise),
skills and knowledge;

The ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company'’s success;

Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of an independent
non-executive Director; and

Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Committee or
the Board from time to time.

\
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Each proposed new appointment, election or re-election of a Director shall
be assessed and/or considered against the criteria and qualifications set
out in the Nomination Policy by the Nomination Committee which shall
recommend its views to the Board and/or the shareholders for consideration
and determination.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lee Kai Ming, was appointed as the company secretary on 12 December
2019. The company secretary reports to the chief executive officer directly
and is responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Board procedures,
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed as well as the Board
activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. He is also responsible
for ensuring that the Board is fully appraised of the relevant corporate
governance developments relating to the Group and facilitating the induction
and professional development of the Directors. During the Year, Mr. Lee Kai
Ming has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for overseeing the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year, which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group on a going
concern basis and are in compliance with the relevant accounting standard
and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.
The Directors aim to present a clear and understandable assessment of
the Group’s financial position and prospects. The Board is not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditors with respect to the financial
reporting are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

One of the major functions of the Board is to maintain an adequate risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard shareholders’
investments and the Group's assets, and reviewing their effectiveness annually
through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reports to the Board on
any material issues and makes recommendations to the Board.
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Policies and procedures have been designed to safeguard assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication, and ensure compliance with applicable law, rules and regulations.
The policies and procedures provide a reasonable assurance that material
misstatements or losses are prevented, potential interruption of the Group’s
management system is detected, and risks existing in the course of arriving at
the Group's objectives are properly managed.

During the Year, the Company engaged an external independent consulting
firm to review the effectiveness of certain of the Group’s risk management and
internal controls systems. Relevant recommendations made by the consultant
have already been implemented in stages by the Group to further enhance its
internal control policies, procedures and practices. The Board considered that
the Group's risk management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate during the Year.

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a need for an
internal audit department. Given the Group's relatively simple corporate and
operation structure, as opposed to diverting resources to establish a separate
internal audit department, the Board, supported by the Audit Committee, is
directly responsible for risk management and internal control systems of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the Year, RSM Hong Kong was engaged as the Group's independent
auditors. The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the Group's consolidated financial statements for the Year is
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report. During the
Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditors, RSM Hong
Kong, and its affiliated firms, in respect of their audit and non-audit services
was as follows:

HIRT R MR AR I B ER SR EE A
& BRI CEZAREUNREATENTE
MR E R T - ARERETERZE
B OERRBTE - RFEBRREBEFAISERFRE
PR B ASERRAKIBR - BAXKED
EEABNBERE MABEEAEENER
BREFFFEZ R

RAEE - ARRRE—RIMNEBIULEM QA
R AREETRREENAREIERGENE
I - NSRBI B BT X BRI R AV E A
B NE—FIREARMERRER  BF R
Bfl - EEERBAKENEREE N AEE
EERRAFEDBERARR -

AEBUREFEZRIABNEZIFT - BIFF
Eimst o ERANEEN A F REERBHELRE
B REROHERELBINABEZH
Fl - EEZZEENHY T~ EEEERAE
AEENREREENAREIT R G A RS EA
RN

% 8 B 35 B

RAFE  BRXSTMEHEHAERER/LE
B H B2 BN o AR BB AR S AL
BRAFERAMBERROBEETHRAS
RAFROBIZBERE ] - RAFE - 5L
ARRZBENERE SN EHHA R EBEQ
AN BEZ M FERRB MO NN REZH
Bz

HK$'000
TAT

E AR
FEBRILIRT -

Audit services
Non-audit services:
Agreed-upon procedures of unaudited interim
financial information
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on Directors’ liabilities have been in force to
protect the Directors and officers of the Group from their risk exposure from
the business of the Group.

Human Resources

The Group is committed to promoting a sound corporate culture by setting
out culture values including (but not limited to) lawful; discipline; ethics and
integrity; responsibly; trust; and prudence. The culture values are articulated
in policies, procedures and processes that are relevant to the day-to-day or
routine business/supporting operations, training and performance appraisal
of the Group’s staff.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with all
shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhance investor relations.

The Company has established several communication channels, including
(a) the annual and extraordinary general meetings which provide a forum for
shareholders to communicate directly with the Board; (b) printed corporate
documents mailing to shareholders; (c) announcement disseminating the
latest activities of the Group on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange; and (d) the Company's website providing an electronic means of
communication.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Company'’s shareholders’ Communication Policy including steps taken at
the general meetings and the multiple channels of communication and
engagement in place, and considered that the shareholders’ Communication
Policy has been properly implemented during the Year under review and is
effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM

The following procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting ("EGM") are subject to the Articles of Association (as
amended from time to time), and the applicable legislations and regulations,
in particular the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time):

(@)  Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholder(s)") carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition;

(b)  The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) and deposited to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business
at Flat A & D, 4/F, Phase 1, Kwai Shing Industrial Building, 36-40 Tai
Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong, and such may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more
requisitionists;

(©)  The requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned, his/her/their shareholding, the reason(s) to convene an
EGM and the details of the business(es) proposed to be transacted in
the EGM, and must be signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned
together with a deposit of a sum of money reasonable sufficient to
meet the Company's expenses in serving the notice of the resolution
and circulating the statement submitted by the shareholders concerned
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
shareholders;

(d)  The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements
under the Articles to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary,
if the requisition has been verified as not in order or the shareholders
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company's expenses for the said purposes, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the Board
will not call for an EGM; and
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(e)  If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/herself/themselves
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the Eligible Shareholder(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board. Such enquiries
can be addressed to the Company Secretary in writing by mail to the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Flat A & D, 4/F, Phase
1, Kwai Shing Industrial Building, 36-40 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New
Territories Hong Kong.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’
meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands for Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings of the Company. Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals
may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting in
accordance with the procedures set out above.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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SECTION1 INTRODUCTION

Section 1.1: About the Company
Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited ("WWHG" or the “Company”) and its

"o

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”,

"o

we’, “our” or “us’) is
principally an established contractor engaged in facade works with a focus on
window in Hong Kong. Facade works can be classified into window, window
wall system, curtain wall system and other facade members. We principally
provide design and build services for new buildings and renovation services
for built premises and rental of investment properties. Our services generally
include developing designs, conducting structural calculations and preparing
shop drawings, as well as management and coordination of various aspects
of a project which involve procurements of building materials from materials
suppliers and/or subcontracting of installation works to our subcontractors,
on-site project management and post-project completion and maintenance
services in Hong Kong.

Section 1.2: ESG Statement of the Board

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board’) is pleased to present
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (‘ESG Report’) for the year
ended 31 March 2025 (‘Reporting Period’) in the following to illustrate and
highlight our efforts and performance in achieving sustainable development
in various ESG-related aspects.

Board and Governance Structure

The Group incorporates environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
approaches into its daily management to achieve the optimum balance on
its economic performance, environmental protection, social responsibility,
and stakeholder satisfaction. To achieve this goal, the Group has developed
various ESG-related management systems to ensure its governance is aligned
with its ESG strategic growth, while advocating for the integration of ESG into
its business operations. The structure of ESG governance mainly comprised of
two components, including the Board and the departments designated for
managing ESG-related matters (the “ESG Management Team”).

The Board is fully committed to formulating and implementing ESG strategies.
The Group's ESG performance is supervised by the Board. Relevant risks and
opportunities have been embedded into the Group's strategic goals, which
are also closely aligned with the overall mission and vision on sustainability.
While developing the Group’s goals, we firmly adhered to principles of good
corporate governance and carefully considered our activities” influences
on the environment and society. Corporate social responsibilities were also
integrated into the Group's business strategies and management approach.
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The ESG Management Team is responsible for effective implementation of
the strategies formulated by the Board. It comprises of core members from
different departments of the Group with relevant expertise for effective
oversight on ESG-related matters, including but not limited to:

Financial expertise: understand the financial implication of ESG issues,
analyze the financial impact of ESG risks and opportunities, assess the
financial performance of sustainability initiatives, and ensure the ESG
risks are integrated into financial reporting.

Risk management expertise: identify and assess ESG risks, develop
risk mitigation strategies, and ensure that ESG risks are appropriately
monitored and reported.

Human resource expertise: manage people and foster a positive
workplace culture to ensure that the Group has effective diversity,
equity, and inclusion policies to monitor labour practices and support
employee well-being.

The ESG Management Team facilitates the Board's oversight of ESG-
related matters through a formalized communication protocol and has
the responsibility for collecting and analysing ESG data, monitoring and
evaluating the Group's ESG performance, and preparing ESG reports. The ESG
Management Team arranges meetings to discuss and review ESG-related
matters, including but not limited to the Group's ESG-related performance,
ESG-related policies, and procedures, as well as the Group’s strategic goals in
terms of sustainable development. The ESG Management Team reports to the
Board annually and assists the Board to discharges its oversight responsibility.

To effectively monitor the progress against ESG-related targets, the Board
works with the ESG Management Team to establish clear qualitative and
quantitative ESG metrics to facilitate the Board's evaluation of the Group's
ESG performance. These metrics cover environmental, social, and governance
aspects of the Group’s operations and would be monitored and reported
to the Board on a regular basis with comparison with the historical data
and selection of baseline as target. In the meantime, the Board and ESG
Management Team would continuously review and enhance the Group’s
ESG-related practices to identify areas for enhancement. Where targets are
not achieved, the ESG Management Team will report the reasons to the Board,
further assess what can be done to achieve and/or whether any adjustments
should be made to the targets.
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For details of the metric monitoring and targets set, please refer to the
following sections of this ESG Report which summarises the related ESG key
performance indicator (“KPI") data and targets of the Group's major operating
revenue activities.

Stakeholders Engagement

The Group values its stakeholders and their feedback regarding its businesses
and ESG aspects. To understand and address their key concerns, the Group has
maintained close communication with its key stakeholders, including but not
limited to investors and shareholders, customers, suppliers and contractors,
employees, the community, non-governmental organisations, and media.

In formulating operational strategies and ESG measures, the Group takes into
account our stakeholders’ expectations and concerns and strives to improve
our performance through mutual cooperation with stakeholders. The Group
has maintained close communication with our key stakeholders by utilising
diversified key communication channels, shown as below:

Key Stakeholders Communication Channels
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Expectations and Concerns

ETERNDE

BERE

Investors and shareholders
meetings

- Financial reports

- Announcements and circulars

- BRBFARERAMKREAS

- BISHRE

. DERIB

REH IR

Customers - Tender meetings

- Project briefings

- Annual general meeting and other shareholder

HEREEE

- Complying with relevant laws and
regulations
- Financial results

BTAERAE MR
LURGE S

- Service quality
- Service delivery time and quality

- Construction site regular meetings (including

status meeting and safety meeting)
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- REBRNEEREE

- EENRS(RREREBENLEEHR)

Suppliers and contractors
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Employees - Regular management meetings
- Regular performance appraisals
- Internal announcement
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The community, non-governmental
organisations and media

- Charity events
« ESG reports
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- Telephone interviews and communication

- Supply chain management

. HEEEE

+ Occupational health and safety
- Equal opportunities

- Remuneration and benefits

- Career development

- BEfEREL

- TEKe

- FEsER

- BERERE

- Giving back to society

+ Environmental protection
- BEEE

- RERE
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Through collaborating with the stakeholders, the Group strives to further
improve its ESG initiatives to create greater value for the community on a
continuous basis.

Materiality Assessment

The Group engaged with various stakeholders throughout the Reporting
Period to identify and prioritise the issues which the Board believes would
have significant impact on the Group’s businesses and its stakeholders. The
ESG Management Team has participated in preparing the ESG Report, assisted
the Group in reviewing its operations, identifying key ESG issues and assessing
the importance of these issues to our businesses and stakeholders. Key stages
include:

Identification: Selected of ESG issues that may reasonably be
considered important for the Group and its stakeholders from various
sources, including the industry trends and internal policies.

Prioritisation: Conducted surveys to rate the level of influence on
stakeholders, assessments and decisions, and the level of significance
of economic, environmental, and social impacts of each issue and the
Group using a scale of 1 to 5. Developed the materiality matrix based on
the scores of the surveys, set the threshold for materiality (i.e. at a score
of average) and prioritised a list of sustainability issues.

Validation: ESG Management Team reviewed the materiality matrix
and the threshold for materiality. ESG issues, with a score of average
or above were prioritised as the important sustainability issues for the
Group to consider and address.
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B tEREARE

The Group's material sustainability aspects will be covered in the ESG Report,

and the materiality matrix is as follow:

L
Q
>

it

HRARNTERE

$

ASSESSMENTS AND DECISIONS
A

Hisin &

LEVEL OF INFLUENCE ON STAKEHOLDERS'
E

Low

{i§

The Group’s Materiality Matrix for 2024/25
REER2024/25F HEEMIEMR

Noise
Management

BEEE

Corporate Social
Responsibility
TEMEEE

Greenhouse
Gas (GHG)
Emissions

B R BB

Energy
Consumption

BEIROHFE

Waste
Management

BEYER

AEENBEAARKEZREEHESHERE

HelkERmER  ERHERENT

Supply Chain
Management

HresEEE

Anti-
corruption
RE)S

Employee
Development
and Training

B ERERIE

Project Quality
Management
BEEEER

Labour
Standard
& T2R

Occupational
Health and Safety [e]
BEREREERS

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS

Confirmation and Approval

Information in the ESG Report was sourced from the official documents,
statistical data and management and operational information of and collected
by the Group. The ESG Report has undergone the internal review process of

the Group and was approved by the Board.
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Opinion and Feedback

Comments and suggestions are welcome from our stakeholders. You may
provide comments on the ESG Report or towards our performance in respect
of sustainable development via the following channels:

Address: Flat A& D, 4/F, Phase 1, Kwai Shing Industrial Building
36-40 Tai Lin Pai Road
Kwai Chung, New Territories
Hong Kong

Email: wahwo@wahwoalum.com

Telephone:  (852) 2152 2880/(852) 2314 3782

SECTION2 ABOUT THIS REPORT

Section 2.1: Scope of the Reporting

The Group has carefully evaluated its business entities and operations based
on the principle of materiality and considered its core business and main
revenue sources. The scope of this ESG Report includes two principal
operating subsidiaries, namely Wah Wo Aluminum Work Company Limited,
Wah Kee (R&M) Limited and Wah Wo Design (Wuhan) Company Limited', and
the Group's offices in Hong Kong. The principal operating subsidiaries are
accountable for the majority of the Group's total revenue for the Reporting
Period.

Unless stated otherwise, the ESG Report summarises the initiatives, policies,
and related ESG KPI data of the Group's major operating revenue activities
under the principal operating subsidiaries which are limited in Hong Kong
and PRC. The Group will continue to assess the major ESG aspects of different
businesses to determine whether they need to be included in the ESG
reporting.

Section 2.2: Reporting Framework

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide ("ESG Reporting Guide”) as
enclosed in the Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on Main Board of the Stock Exchange with the aim
to inform relevant parties and stakeholders of our policies, measures and
performance regarding environmental, social and governance issues. To
ensure a comprehensive ESG reporting, we would continuously take note of
different ESG issues and assess their relevance to our ESG reporting.

! Wah Wo Design (Wuhan) Company Limited was incorporated in the PRC in
FY2024 with its principal activities being the provision of drawing and design
services exclusively to fellow subsidiaries within the Group. The entity is
included in the Group's ESG Report for the first time this year; as a result, certain
comparative figures have been restated accordingly.
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The Group attaches great importance to materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency during the preparation of the ESG Report. The Group has applied
these reporting principles in the aforementioned ESG Reporting Guide as the
following:

Materiality: \We continuously collect opinions from stakeholders and
determine the ESG issues to be covered and key points to be reported
in the ESG Report based on the materiality assessment which was
conducted to identify material issues during the Reporting Period,
thereby adopting the confirmed material issues as the focus for the
preparation of the ESG Report. The materiality of issues was reviewed
and confirmed by the Board and the ESG Management Team. Please
refer to the section headed “Materiality Assessment” for further details.

Quantitative: We measured the key performance indicators with
reference to the principles listed in the ESG Reporting Guide, including
collecting environmental and social data from various departments,
verifying documents, calculating, and disclosing data, and finally
submitting the ESG Report to the Board for review after being verified
by the ESG Management Team. The standards and methodologies
used in calculation of relevant data in the ESG Report, as well as the
applicable assumptions were disclosed. The KPIs were supplemented
by explanatory notes to establish benchmarks where feasible.

Balance: The ESG Report was prepared based on an objective and
impartial manner to ensure that the information disclosed faithfully
reflects the overall ESG performance of the Group.

Consistency: The statistical methodologies applied to this ESG Report
were substantially consistent with the previous year, and explanations
were provided regarding data with changes in the scope of disclosure
and calculation methodologies. If there are any changes that may affect
comparison with previous reports, the Group will add comments to the
corresponding content of this ESG Report.

Section 2.3: Reporting Period
The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges and measures being
taken by the Group during the financial year ended 31 March 2025.

\
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SECTION3 ENVIRONMENTAL

A1.

Emissions

The Group is committed to complying with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection. It adopts effective measures to
achieve resource efficiency, energy saving, and waste reduction. To
reduce its impacts on the environment, the Group implements green
office practices such as encouraging the use of recycled paper for
printing and copying, double-sided printing and copying, and reducing
energy consumption by switching off idling lights, air conditioners,
and other electrical appliances. The Group strictly complies with
applicable laws and regulations concerning environmental protection
and pollution control, including, but not limited to: Air Pollution Control
Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance, and Waste Disposal Ordinance.

We recognize the importance of quality control and has established
an adequate quality management system. The quality management
system of the Group for the design, supply and installation of aluminum
works is accredited by Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency with the
standards of the International Organization for Standardization (“1SO”)
9001:2015 on 28 November 2013 and the certificate will be valid until
27 November 2025. We have in-house quality assurance requirements
specifying, inter alia, specific work procedures for performing various
types of works and responsibilities of personnel of different levels. Our
staff is required to comply with these quality assurance requirements.

To safeguard our employees and other stakeholders against health
and safety risks associated with our operations, out of our project
management team members, seven of them were qualified to act
as safety supervisors and had completed the construction industry
safety supervisor course held by the Construction Industry Council
or the safety & health supervisor (construction) course held by the
Occupational Health & Safety Council as at the Latest Practicable Date.

We pay due regards to compliance with laws and regulations that
are relevant to our Group. At the same time, to uphold our corporate
social responsibilities, we care for our community members by actively
participating in public welfare or charity events.

During the Reporting Period the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste had been identified
during the that would have a significant impact on the Group.
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A1.1: Exhaust Gas Emissions
The office did not generate direct air emissions. Renovation works
carried out by sub-contractors may generate some indoor air
pollutants, and the liability shall be borne by the sub-contractors.
However, the Group still strives to mitigate the exhaust
gas generated from our business as much as possible. The
project managers have been deployed at the site to supervise
subcontractors’ work.
A1.2: Greenhouse Gas (“GHG"”) Emissions
Emissions from the Group were generated mainly from the
consumption of mobile fuel (i.e., gasoline for the Group-owned
vehicles). The Group-owned vehicles consuming fuel were
used for daily business operations. Their combustion generated
several air emissions including Nitrogen Oxides, Sulphur Oxides,
and Respiratory Suspended Particles. Due to lack of data, only
Nitrogen Oxides and Respiratory Suspended Particles could be
calculated. The following presents the Group’s Greenhouse Gas
("GHG") emissions for the Reporting Period:

GHG emissions from use of vehicles

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BE - HERELRE

A11: BESRBERR
WAEWEEERBER  KEH
RAEITNE T EeEES D
ERREESAY  mMAEBEERAKX
EHEAYE - AR REEDES
BRERLERELENER - HEK
BB R B AR B B R A KB R T
(=

A2 BERBE(CRZERE KR

REENERDEERE RERE

(BNAREEERHERNTHR) NFE

B AN AEESTHARA

BEGEE - MHREELERENL

¥~ A R AT IR AR E BRI

LABRERERY - AR

% ErsrERE Y kA kA

SRR o TXEYAEBRIRE

HEAERE(RERE ] HER

)T ERAEHL

2025 2024
2025 20245
Intensity Intensity
(gram/ (gram/
Total million Total million
(gram) HKS revenue)’ (gram)  HKS revenue)’
RE BE
(%/ (n/
HEER st BEETT
Aspects 1.2 L ONE ) WA
Nitrogen Oxides pE=Rla7) 23,840 49.5 13,459 56.4
Carbon Dioxide = 7 152,894 317.1 146,779 6157
Respiratory Suspended Particles — AJ iR AS&ZFER ) 2,224 4.6 1,191 5.0
A1.3: Hazardous Waste A13: BEREY

The Group did not generate a significant amount of hazardous
waste due to its business nature. Thus, no data was recorded, and
no policy has been formulated.
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During the Reporting Period, the total revenue of the Group was approximately 2
HK$482.1 million (FY2024: HK$238.4 million).
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A1.4: Non-hazardous Waste
During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with the
Waste Disposal Ordinance and did not aware there was material
nonhazardous waste generated (FY2024: nil), given that the
waste disposal was mainly born by main contractors. The major
category of non-hazardous waste generated by main contractors
includes construction and demolition (C&D) waste.

A1.5: Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group has set a 5-year target to reduce 10% of GHG
emissions intensity (gram/million HKS revenue) in FY2022. To
reduce emissions from vehicles, employees are encouraged to
take public transports. The Group plans schedule and arranges
the route of its vehicles to avoid unnecessary travel and/or
congestion. To reduce its emissions relating to business travel,
the Group avoids non-essential business travel and encourages
employees to take low emissions travelling methods.

A1.6: Wastes Reduction and Initiatives

The Group has developed Green Office Practice to encourage
wise use of resources while promoting waste reduction at
source. The Group promotes paperless office — documents
and information are transmitted electronically to avoid paper
consumption. When printing is inevitable, paper should be
printed on both sides whenever possible. The Group also
encourages employees to recycle paper, plastic bottle and tin
can. No formal policy on waste reduction has been established to
regulate its sub-contractors. Nevertheless, they are encouraged to
reduce waste and reuse resources to minimize the environmental
impacts.

A2. Use of Resources
The Group continues with initiatives to introduce resource efficiency
and eco-friendly measures to the Group's operations and is committed
to optimizing the use of resources in all of its business operations.

During our daily operation, fuel and electricity are the major energy
consumed. The Group has established relevant policies and procedures
in governing the efficient use of resources, in reference to the
objective of achieving higher energy efficiency and reducing the use of
unnecessary materials.
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A2.1: Energy Consumption A2.1:
The following presents the Group's direct energy consumption
for the Reporting Period:
Direct Energy Consumption in total and intensity
Aspects 2.1 Unit
fEmE2.1 B
Electricity Usage kWh
=k ThRE
Electricity Usage Intensity kWh/office
BEE TEE /WA=
A2.2: Water Consumption and A2.5: Packaging Material A2.2:
Owing to the nature of our operations, other than the
consumption of drinking water, our operations do not require the
use of water or raw materials. There is also an absence of packing
materials involved in our operations. As such, these aspects are
considered as irrelevant to the Group.
A2.3: Energy and A2.4: Water Use Efficiency Initiatives A2.3:

The Group sets a 5-year target of reducing 10% of the total
energy consumption intensity (kWh/office) in FY2022. The Group
places great emphasis on electricity conservation to minimise the
impact brought by the Group’s operation to the environment.
The Group encourages our employees to set room temperature
ranges from 23C to 25T, and to switch off electrical appliances
and all unnecessary lighting and air conditioners before they
leave the office. The Group selects energy-efficient equipment
where applicable and will adopt immediate maintenance
once damage is reported. With such measures implemented,
employees’ awareness of energy conservation has been
enhanced. The Board will conduct a comprehensive review at the
end of the period to assess the achievement of said target.
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The Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group pursues best practices with the environment and focuses on
the impact of its operations on the environment and natural resources.
The Group has also integrated the concept of environmental protection
into its internal management and daily operation activities and is
committed to achieving the goal of environmental sustainability.

The main resources used by the Group in its daily operations are
electricity and diesel which have been described in the section headed
“Use of Resources” of Aspect A2. Apart from that, the Group will not use
other natural resources in large quantities.

The Group believes that corporate development should not come
at the expense of the environment. By integrating environmental
consideration into our business strategies, we aim to be an
environmentally sustainable enterprise. In the coming years, we would
continue promoting GHG emission reduction, energy and water
resource conservation and efficient use of natural resources. We believe
that not only can raising environmental awareness and reinforcing the
positive behavioral changes bring benefits to our financial situation, but
also to the future generations.

Climate Change

The Group recognises the importance of the identification and
mitigation of significant climate-related matters; therefore, the Group
is committed to managing the potential climate-related risks which
may impact the Group's business activities. The Group has established
risk management policy in identifying and mitigating different
risks including climate-related risks. The Board meets regularly and
cooperates closely with key management to identify and evaluate
climate-related risks and to formulate strategies to manage the
identified risks.

A3.

A4.
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Through the above method, the Group identified the material impacts
on the Group's business arising from the following risks:

A4.1: Climate-related Matters A4l BEESRIRERERREE

N

Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather such
as typhoons, storms and heavy rains can disrupt the Group's
operations by damaging the power grid and communication
infrastructures, and injuring its employees during their work,
leading to reduced capacity and decreased in productivity, or
expose the Group to risks associated with non-performance and
delayed performance. To minimise the potential risks and hazards,
the Group has flexible working arrangements and precautionary
measures during bad or extreme weather conditions.

Transition Risks

The Group anticipates that there will be more stringent climate
legislations and regulations to support the global vision of carbon
neutrality. From a listed company’s perspective, we acknowledge
the increasing requirements of climate-related information
disclosures. One example is the ESG Reporting Guide in respect to
significant climate-related impact disclosures of an issuer. Stricter
environmental laws and regulations may expose enterprises to
higher risks of claims and lawsuits. Corporate reputation may also
decline due to failure to meet the compliance requirements for
climate change. The related capital investment and compliance
costs thus increase. In response to the policy and legal risks as
well as reputation risks, the Group regularly monitors existing and
emerging trends, policies and regulations relevant to climate and
be prepared to alert the top management where necessary to
avoid cost increments, noncompliance fines and/or reputational
risks due to delayed response.
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SECTION4 SOCIAL

B1.

Employment and Labor Practices

The Group stringently complies with national and local laws and
regulations concerning employment and labor practices, including
but not limited to the Employment Ordinance, the General Holiday
Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination Ordinance, and the Race
Discrimination Ordinance.

Employees are our most invaluable assets. It is our priority to ensure
that the occupational health and safety of all employees, subcontractor
workers and the surrounding communities to our construction sites
is adequately maintained. Our comprehensive Safety Management
Plan provides a framework for monitoring and evaluating the
implementation of our safety policies and measures. We further strive to
continuously improve our workplace safety policies in accordance with
guidance received from the Labour Department from time to time.

It is also our aim to enhance the well-being and development of our
employees. As an equal opportunity employer, the Group has put in
place policies to ensure that it treats all employees on an equal footing
in matters related to, among others, recruitment, promotion, appraisals,
discipline, remuneration and benefits, compensation and dismissal,
and working hours and rest periods. An employee’s age, gender, family
status, sexual orientation, physical disability, ethnicity and religion
would not affect his career with us. During the Reporting Period, we
received no complaints regarding discrimination issues from any of our
stakeholders. Needless to say, we ensured that no child nor forced labor
was employed by the Group.

Apart from providing competitive remuneration and benefits, we
continue to support and nurture our employees through staff
development and training programmes.

The Group has devised a staff handbook for its employees to understand
important information relating to the Group’s human resources policies,
rules, and work ethics surrounding employment. It is an essential tool
in helping to define the expectations of both the management and the
employees, and also to protect them from unfair and/or inconsistent
treatment and discrimination.
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B2.

B1.1: Workforce

The Group had employed 163 full-time and 9 part-time
employees as at 31 March 2025 (FY2024: 117 full time and 1 part-
time employees), all of whom are from Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Out of the total number of staff, 138 of our employees
were male (FY2024: 95) and 34 of them were female (FY2024: 23).
The majority of the workforce were within the 31-50 age group,
accounting for 101 of our staff (FY2024: 71), while 45 employees
were under 30 years old (FY 2024: 30) and 26 were over 50 years
old (FY2024:17).

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s overall full-time
employee turnover rate was approximately 23% (FY2024:
19%). The employee turnover rate for male and female were
approximately 24% (FY2024: 7%) and 21% (FY2024: 30%)
respectively.

Health and Safety

The management of the Group is responsible for the overall health
and safety of employees. The Group strictly follows relevant laws and
regulations such as the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance.
There was no material non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations relating to occupational health and safety which had
material impact to the Group.

We place emphasis on occupational health and work safety and provide
safety training to our staff covering topics such as our safety measures
and procedures for reporting accidents. Due to the nature of works, risks
of accidents or injuries to workers are inherent. The Group understands
that preventive measures are way more important than reactive
measures. Therefore, sufficient first-aid boxes have been equipped in
the office area in case any emergencies happen and also we devised
a safety management plan to govern our workers and subcontractors.
Looking ahead, we would continue to promote occupational health
and safety to its employees and avoid any work injury or accident by all
means.

Work injuries will be reported according to our internal guidelines which
was set up with reference to the work injury reporting requirement by
the Labour Department. Based on our safety management plan, we
ensured safety and health of our employees in connection with the use,
handling, storage and transport of articles and substances; providing
all necessary information, instructions, training and supervision for
ensuring safety and health; providing and maintaining safe access to
and egress from the workplaces; and providing and maintaining a safe
and healthy working environment.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group is pleased to report that no
work injuries and fatality cases recorded during the Reporting Period
(FY2024: 0 work injuries occurred and fatality cases recorded).

Our Board of directors are responsible for overseeing our Group's health
and safety management system to ensure our compliance with the
relevant statutory requirements. A safety committee meeting is held on
a monthly basis with our foremen for reviewing the health and safety
issues related to our operations. Under the direction of our safety officer,
our foremen are responsible for monitoring on-site implementation of
our safety management system.

Development and Training

The knowledge and skill levels of our employees are vital to the Group's
success, and hence we provide sufficient training and development
programmes to allow them to excel at their work.

Our training programmes range from professional and technical
training to personal development skills and our employees are required
to attend an induction training to ensure they thoroughly understood
the Group's safety and health policies. In addition, the Group provides
adequate job and safety training to employees to equip them with
the required safety knowledge and work skills to tackle situations and
challenges to be encountered at diverse work sites.

During the Reporting Period, the percentage breakdown of employees
trained and the average training hours per employee, by gender and
employee category are as follows:

p
By Gender =R
. Female g
- Male - Bt
By Employee Category RIEEER
- Senior Management - BREERE

- PRERE
- VIREEE

- Middle Management
+ Junior Management

B3.

Percentage of
employees trained (%)
ZilEE

B £ (%)

2025
0255

100 100 64.9

100 100 69.4

100 100 71.3

100 100 69.2

100 100 66.0
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B4.

B5.

Labor Standards

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations such as
Employment Ordinance and the Disability Discrimination Ordinance of
the Laws of Hong Kong. Background checks were conducted for new
employees to ensure that no teenagers under the statutory minimum
working age would be employed. All employees must provide their
personal identity documents to prove their ages and identities. During
the Reporting Period, no material case of non-compliance with local
child and forced labor related laws and regulations were noted.

Supply Chain Management

As mentioned, our quality management system which governs
our daily operation for quality control and improvement meets the
requirements of 1SO 9001:2015. Our internal policies and thus the
procurement process are governed by this standard. We maintain an
approved suppliers list set up by the Board of directors. Only suppliers
meeting our stringent quality standards can be added to the list for our
purchases.

Under our policies, the Group would only purchase supplies from these
approved suppliers to ensure the quality of our purchases. To assess
suppliers’ ability to supply materials and deliver works which meet
all the requirements and specifications, the Group has designated
procurement team to formulated relevant policies to regulate the
evaluation on suppliers’ performance, in which environmental
and social factors are considered and embedded throughout the
procurement process.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had engaged 94 (FY2024: 110)
suppliers and subcontractors while 71 (FY2024: 84) of them were located
in Hong Kong. Further, with reference to the quality requirement of our
construction projects, our project staff or the directors would also pay
visits to suppliers to communicate our requirements including safety
and environmental protective measures, while at the same time inspect
the suppliers’ warehouse to conduct a sample check on the quality
of the goods. Upon reception of goods at project sites, the project
supervisors are responsible for the inspection of the delivered goods to
ensure they can meet our quality requirements before settling payment.
Suppliers may be suspended or removed from the approved list if they
fail to fulfil align with our green procurement standards.

\
\ Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - =12 [% & B A R A7)

B4.

B5.

T
AEEERETH B EDIKCEBIRLD) X
CEREARIEHDEREER AR o ¥
BEARTESKS  UERERTEREAE
REEREIIEFEROAKTEA - AR
BWARMEBAFMHEREXY - LEE
HEFREED - RREHR - WERRE
NESTEHEE T KRB858 THEERR
ERREANE M -

HEsEEE

ESCATI - B EEEREREE R
BE ST REGE - FFA150 9001:2015H)
Tk o B ATBER I ERBRIES %
SHERE c RMEE—HHESTSHREN
RAMEERZE - AEFERMBERES
IEENEERAIINAZELE - BEAAE
HIREE -

REBHEMVER - AREESRAZERA
HEBREYE  URRRKBEE - B
FHAEHERRE D TR IR TE MARR IR
YRR T2 - NEECRIRREE K
HEARBBR - REHEHRRNFGET
fF ZBRERRRELRMEREMAEZE
#E - ZFARNTERARBRIEZNZE

IRERN -

RWEME - NEBZEEo4E (202484
F 0% HEER MR EAE - ERg
(202484 4F : 842 )R EB © hoh » &2
ERMEEBEENEEER - BMWIEE
ABREZNSFHHEES  HESESD
RENER(BELE MIREEE) - R
RGEEREE  HERESETHE
BE - EHEERBUIERE  HEEXE
BERBIMNNER » ARERSTE RFID
HEENR  HigHhS/ANFE - (EtEs
REERM A B M ERERER - 9] 8t
TEEGENBEERTRZEFF

o

> I8



B6.

B7.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

For subcontractors’ quality management, similar to that of purchasing,
we maintain a list of approved subcontractors. Regular inspection on
the quality of works and progress as delivered by our subcontractors
would be performed by our project supervisors. We have made it
clear to our subcontractors that compliance with the labor laws and
regulations is mandatory when handling safety and employment
matters at project sites.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any non-
compliances in relation to safety and labor laws and regulations.

Product Responsibility

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for projects are the
most important for the sustainable growth of the Group. The Group
strives to maintain good relationship with our major customers to
establish good reputation and to gain future business opportunity.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong related
to product health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress
including but not limited to, the Trade Descriptions Ordinance and
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, that would have a significant
impact to the Group. There was no complaint received during the
Reporting Period. Given the Group's business nature, the Group was not
involved in the sale of products, therefore disclosure on product recall
procedures and number of products recalled are not applicable.

Anti-corruption

The Group strives to achieve high standard of ethics in business
operations and does not tolerate any forms of corruptions, frauds and
all other behaviours violating work ethics. Unethical or illegal events
such as corruption, bribery, and collusion strictly prohibited. The
Group stipulates the disciplinary code in the Employee Handbook and
employees’ Code of Conduct, and ensures the employees understand
the details of the terms with provision of relevant training programme.
For details of the training programme, please refer to Aspect B3 of this
ESG Report. The Group encourages employees to report any suspected
misconduct.

Over the years, we have witnessed no incidences of suspected or actual
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering activities occurring
within the Group. We stand firmly by our anti-corruption policies and
procurement practices as stated in our internal manuals which comply
with applicable laws. Acceptance of kickbacks, commissions or any
form of benefit is strictly prohibited during any procurement exercise,
contract negotiation or other business dealings.
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B8.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong related
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering including but not
limited to, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, that would have a
significant impact to the Group.

Conflict of Interest Management

In order to prevent employees from not taking corresponding measures
because of their personal interests, the Group has formulated the
“Declaration of Interest” which provides guidelines and procedures
to employees in exercising their utmost good faith and honesty in all
transactions involving their duties and under no circumstances use
their positions or knowledge gained for their own personal benefits.
Employees must ensure that there is no conflict of interest between
their personal interests and their duties, obligations and responsibilities
to the Group. Those who have or have had a personal relationship with
related person where a conflict of interest is perceived should provide
written declarations at the earliest possible opportunity.

Whistleblowing Mechanism

Committed to the highest possible standards of openness, probity and
accountability, the Group expects and encourages our employees who
have concerns about any suspected misconduct or malpractice within
the Group to come forward and voice those concerns. Therefore, the
Group adopts a “Whistleblowing Policy” for all levels and operations.
Complainants are assured of protection against unfair dismissal,
victimisation or unwarranted disciplinary action, even if the concerns
turn out to be unsubstantiated. The Audit Committee is responsible
for monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the “Whistleblowing
Policy” and make recommendations for further improvement based on
investigation results.

Community Investment

The Group strives to implement corporate social responsibility and
actively participates in public welfare activities. No formal policy on
community investment has been established.

Owing to the nature of our business, we are not required to label any
products or to advertise our services. Further, we generally do not
handle personal data and, as such, are exposed to minimal risks of
breaching privacy laws.
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SECTION5 FUTURE APPROACH TO SUSTAINABLE F5H ARAREBBEUSEBENSS
DEVELOPMENT

In the future, we will; BIARKA -
Continue to raise our staff and subcontractors’ awareness in relation to - BERS B T RXAHENRIRER

environmental protection;

Maintain the highest standards for occupational health and safety to - REGSBRERRERLREE  DURER
protect our staff members and the communities located in the vicinity 188 T REBEEMEMINTR ;
of our operations; and 54

Further extend our care to the community by participating in more - DHEBLREERS - E—FPRRBMEE
charity services. (=R -
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29th Floor, Lee Garden Two & A2
28 Yun Ping Road B E285%
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong FMEZHI2918
T+8522598 5123 B 55 +852 2598 5123

F+852 25987230 HH +8522598 7230

rsm.global/hongkong/assurance

To the shareholders of Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wah Wo Holdings
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 75 to 173, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
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B BE RS

RSM

MRREAFASREBERMANERAE  RRY

of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements ~ ANEARE M EHRENBARAEENEIE © %

of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

EEHEREHSEAM B RRBEETENALL
RERNBER TETREN  ZMATEZE

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  JEIRHEBHEZ R - BT AINEIRETS

The key audit matters we identified are:

Key Audit Matter

HRETEH
Revenue from construction contracts

BRE KMz

Refer to Notes 4(i), 5(a) and 8 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

BRI A TS TRERMIFEAG) ~ 58 o

The Group recognised revenue from the provision of aluminium
works related services of approximately HK$478,435,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

BZE2025F3A31BILFE - SEEEERIRMRE 28
8 AR 75 2 U &5 49478,435,00078 7T ©

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over time using
the output method, based on direct measurements of the
surveys of performance completed to date relative to the
remaining services for the contracts entered into by the Group.
a %’ﬁlﬁlm)ﬁ%ﬁ’\ﬂ SEEKIZRANE(EE EXEFAM
TEHFIGRIRTE ) M EE T B IRE S ARER B RERR -

HINR :

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMETETRNMEERRETSHE

We have performed the following procedures in relation to the
revenue from construction contracts:

B ERA R REFTITHREFIT -

(i) understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of key controls over the assessment
process of revenue recognition from construction
contracts, and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such
as complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias;

TEERFHE R R A SRR TR (LR 2 A RA S 2 6%

FARER - WRBEBGT IEEHREMEMES
b EE (BN - T8N - BHERNHEEBRRE

RONRSIRE)NRERHEERE RN EFRR

(i) testing contract agreements with customers, on a sample
basis, the key terms and conditions including the contract
sum, the scope of work and retention;

BERA - HERPERITNEGOHE E@fuﬁ’x K f
- BREeNEHE  LEBERRESFETAH
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter

RSM

BREETEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEETSBIE
Revenue from construction contracts (continued)
REAIW s ()

Management reviews the progress of the contracts and revises
the estimates of contract revenue, contract costs and variation
orders for each construction contract to determine whether
the construction contract is an onerous contract based on the
most current budget with reference to the overall contract
consideration.
EEBHEMHGANEETETEHEES NG OME
BRRAREFITENGE  BRELXEBRRBSHARESE
NETARENEERES NG REEILEEL

Significant management’s judgements were needed to
estimate the value of services delivered to date and the final
outcome of each contract, including forecasting the costs to
complete a contract and the provision for onerous contracts.
HBEEREEEHEAGHES AR RBNEBERZE
BRNREER  BRERBATKEORERERESOR
PR o

We identified the revenue recognition of construction contracts
as a key audit matter because of the significance of the revenue
to the consolidated financial statements and the significant
management judgements and estimates in estimating the
value of the construction works completed to date and final
outcome of each contract.

MR EHFEEMBERRABEZEE RNMEFHES T
REETRERNEERSSANERERBRTEZELERE
BB Il R A - Bt - BPSRES N KRR ERET
R IARREEE -

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - ZEF$Z & = B A R A &)

BMETETROMEERRETSEE

(if)

(iv)

(vi)

comparing the contract revenue recognised for
contracts in progress during the year, on a sample basis,
with reference to the certifications from the surveyors
appointed by the customers or payment applications
from the in-house surveyor or confirmation received from
customers;

BIREA  BRFAEZAOERNSHWRERG
B FZR IR )R 2 Al &Y 58 78 5k A #0081 2 A A 5 7R BR 7 Bk
KEEFHBRAETEHL

conducting site visits, on a sample basis, to observe the
status of the project and evaluate whether the project
progress was consistent with the agreed timetable;
BV - ETEMRR  UERZEEE ORER
FHEIE B E RS i E R ERART

assessing management’s estimates used in forecasting
the final outcome of each contract, including estimated
costs to completion, by obtaining and evaluating relevant
information in connection with the estimates used,
including budgeted forecasts prepared by management
and correspondences with customers; and
BAER K EEAMERGTNEEER(REE
BEGHNAERARETSHNEA) @ fHHERE
RRIERIR A QOREERN GG - BRETIAMEETK
N Rk

discussing the status of projects under construction,
including estimated costs to completion, assessment of
potential liquidated damages for major contracts and
provision for onerous contracts with management of the
Group.

B EEEEREENREEZEANRL  BETIN
AT - HEESNNBEE T IREHBEMENT
I REEIE S OaER



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMETESRNMEERRETSE

Assessment of expected credit losses ("ECL") of trade receivables and contract assets

HEE SRR RE K EENTEREERR ([ BHEEER])

Refer to Notes 4(t), 5(b)(i), 24 and 25 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.
B A2 BERE MBS ImRMI T4 ~ 50)0) ~ 24%25 °

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
trade receivables and contract assets were approximately,
HK$8,417,000 and HK$55,601,000, respectively, which in
aggregate represented about 22.8% of the Group's total assets.
M2025F3H31H - EREEESHEREKIBARSNHEENR
EE S B4 58,417,000/ 7T & 55601,0008 T » &3t &
SEEEREL228% °

The assessment of ECL of trade receivables and contract assets
is identified as a key audit matter because of the magnitude
of the trade receivables and contract assets combined with
the significant management judgement is required to assess
the ECL of trade receivables and contract assets. Management
performed a detailed analysis which considered customers’
ageing profile, credit history, historical payment pattern and
forecast economic conditions for the estimation of ECL on its
trade receivables and contract assets.

A E SRKIARANEENTEREEERESRIRH
REAFE FEFHRUFENSOENRR - SR
BORWFERANEENTAREEBERFTEZ2EHNERX
EREHE - BRECELFAST - ZERFFOKREKA
& EERHE - BEMFER RIEALERR - NGB
SRBFARENEENTRPEERE -

We have performed the following procedures in relation to the
assessment of ECL of trade receivables and contract assets:
BPIRATHEE S RUGIE R &N EENTRE SR
THRFET

(i) obtaining an understanding of the assessment process of

ECL of trade receivables and contract assets, evaluating the
design and implementation of relevant internal control,
and assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to management
bias or fraud;
BRREE 5 RIKKIA R A B ENTAEE RN
IR ¢ AR A IEIE Rt R B - WiERE
BAGET T HEE MR R EMER R E R KF -
WERN - FEM B REREEERER R SKGE
WASIRE - HME T ERBERHOEERR

(i) performing a retrospective review to evaluate the
outcome of prior period assessment of expected credit
losses of trade receivables and contract assets to assess the
effectiveness of management's estimation process;
EITEPES  UFABA RSB SRERERE
WEENTBHEEEENTLER  TEEEEMET
AR E RN

(i) assessing whether trade receivables and contract assets
had been appropriately grouped by management based
on their shared credit risk characteristics;

FHMEE SR RIER N EERSHEREREARS
BHNEERBSEETEE DA
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBENHR S
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) ARETSEEE)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HRETSEE RIET RSN AR ERRETSEE
Assessment of expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

FHEE S ERHER G X EERBEEER ([ FERIEEER]) (&)

(iv) engaging our external valuation expert as auditor’s
expert to review management’s and management’s
expert calculation model on the ECL of trade receivables
and contract assets and test the underlying information
including the historical payment records, credit history and
credit rating of the Group's customers, if available;
BERMNINBEEERIERRBMER R EIEE
NEREBEFRHEHRWHENENEENTRHGEE
BiEstEEE - WAIRKMEBER - BF EKEEF
BBER RS - ERRERERTR(INE)

(v)  evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the management and auditor's expert;
FEEEBRZEMEREEHE AEMSEIR
HEE

(vi)  assessing the appropriateness of the impairment loss
methodology, testing the calculation of the historical loss
rates on a sample basis and evaluating the reasonableness
of the forward-looking adjustments made to reflect
current and forecast future economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic product) against publicly available information
with the assistance of the auditor's expert;
BRZHAERMNZBEAERNHE TESHLRFHE
- FHEREEEDENEE 1 - MR EUE £ &8
b R0 ET W AT L S R E AT K T8 B R R B B AR
(ANEAEERE) NARIERE 2 SBM

(vii)  testing the accuracy and completeness of the data used by
management on a sample basis to develop the historical
loss rates and assessing the sufficiency, reliability and
relevance of that data; and
HEORFE IR E I E £ BIR R A BUR e £
%%%’\EM&EWEEZ%%(%E’U}Eﬁv"l‘i - Al S AR
% K

(viii) testing the calculation of ECL provisions applying
the provision rates to the age categories of the trade
receivables and contract assets outstanding at the
reporting date.

HBEBBREES HRWTIARAKNEERREE
PlFERBEALLE - AIFFEREEFERENTHE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee assist the directors in discharging their responsibilities
for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBENHR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

\72 Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - =12 [% & B A R A7)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBENHR S

RSM

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDITOF THE T B E S B EHMRAEN
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) BEE®)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine  {fEETAZZ BB BN ZIESP » T FIrEE B L
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated ~ EIB¥ANHIGA P HEBRERNBARAEE -
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit ~ M#&AK B BT FIE - BMEZEENREPE
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or ~ #zZERIE @ BIDARIEAR T AT ARKE
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 25 EH @ EERHERNBERT @ HEIETE
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated ~ HAfE R FIRE R BREEHERKNBEEERHE
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would BELEMAZRFZ @ BRFREFELERETE
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such ~ #BFZFIH °

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's ~ AJBS Z AR EN T BB A BARTEE

report is Mr. Yam Tak Fai, Ronald (practicing certificate number: P01311). T (BEFERIR : P01311) ©
RSM Hong Kong EHXETEEH

Certified Public Accountants HEEFAT

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025 FH 0 2025965308

\
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Yearended 31 March 2025 #{Z202543/31H 1FFE

N s

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income )

CoEAREMRENESE

2025 2024
20254 20244F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T
REVENUE & 8 482,123 238425
Cost of revenue I EaID®N (426,391) (217,175)
Gross profit EF 55,732 21,250
Other income, gains and losses HaA - W R EE 9 (17,353) (13,865)
Administrative expenses THFAX (23,091) (18,751)
Reversal of provision/(provision) for B o RKFIERENEERE
impairment allowance on trade BERD (BB ) F 8B
receivables and contract assets, net 9,636 (50,242)
Finance costs B E RN 11 (394) (345)
Share of results of an associate FE(LEE N B HELE 21 (494) -
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRELATRF(E5E8) 24,036 (61,953)
Income tax (expense)/credit FsR(Fx) e 12 (7,209) 6,847
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR EARNEEARBLER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE B (E5E)
COMPANY 13 16,827 (55,106)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: Hib2 M -
Itern that may be reclassified to profit or loss: AEF S EERm B -
Exchange differences on translating foreign ~ HREGINETSELME K,
operations == (94) (10)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOMEFOR  FRHM M - HIKRBIE
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (94) (10)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOMEFOR  AAFKEEAEBEEAZE
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS  Uiz5#2%E
OF THE COMPANY 16,733 (55,116)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE SREAN(HE) HK1.68cents  (HK551) cents
Basic and diluted EARNEE 17 1.68 Al (5.51) Bl
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBIKAR

31 March 2025 202543431H

2025 2024
20254 20245
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BE KR 18 4,030 8,126
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 - 3,383
Investment properties WEYHE 20 112,600 130,200
Interest in an associate B = A AR R 21 - =
Amount due from an associate FEURES N B FIB 52 =
Deposits and other receivables e R HALEW IR 22 1,063 197
Deferred tax assets REFRIBEE 23 1,746 7,515
119,491 149,421
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Contract assets EHEE 24 55,601 39,759
Trade receivables =) &0 25 8,417 17,384
Prepayments, deposits and other AN FIE « Re REMEY
receivables EQE] 22 4,993 3,595
Income tax recoverables AT B FTIS R - 10,621
Pledged bank deposits BERIRITIE K 26 38,656 18,288
Cash and cash equivalents Re kR EFHEEE 26 53,208 30,704
160,875 120,351
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade payables B S ENRIE 27 49,844 58,833
Other payables and accruals Hib I IE R EGER 6,785 5,040
Lease liabilities HEEE 28 - 711
Provision for rectification works R TIRRHE 29 9,980 5,082
Bank borrowings IRITEK 30 6,344 6,701
Current tax liabilities ENHATRIB B & 51 =
73,004 76,367
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 87,871 43,984
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BREERRBAERE
LIABILITIES 207,362 193,405
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position__ ..

SAMBKAE

31 March 2025 202543431H

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 28 = 2,721
Deferred tax liabilities FRERIBEE 23 - 55
= 2,776
NET ASSETS BEEFE 207,362 190,629
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR S
Share capital &N 31 10,000 10,000
Reserves G 33 197,362 180,629
TOTAL EQUITY MR 207,362 190,629

Approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025 and are signed on its

behalf by:

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa
PREEE 4

Director

EF

R2025F6 30K EESH ER AU TESR

Mr. Chan Fai
PRI 4
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FeEBEx

Yearended 31 March 2025 #{Z202543431H1FF/E

Foreign
Share currency
Issued premium Merger translation Retained
capital account reserve reserve profits Total

BRIRA RABER AftffE  NERERRE RERER @t
HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$1000 HK$000
THT Thx TATL ThT TAT THT

(Note33()l)  (Note33()(il)  (Note 33(b)i)
(MzE30)) (PR30 (BEE33(b)ii)

At 1 April 2023 M2023F4R 18 10,000 91,369 20 = 144,356 245,745
Loss for the year ENEE - - - = (55,106) (55,106)
Other comprehensiveincome  FREMZ AN

for the year - = = (10) = (10)

Total comprehensive incomefor ~ FRZAREEE

the year - - - (10) (55,106) (55,116)
At31 March 2024 and at RAO4EIA3NB R

1 April 2024 2004F4R18 10,000 91,369 20 (10) 89,250 190,629
Profit for the year ERRH - - - - 16,827 16,827
Other comprehensiveincome ~ EREMZEMRE

for the year = = = (94) = (94)

Total comprehensive incomefor ~ FRZEWEE(E
the year - - - (94) 16,827 16,733

At 31 March 2025 120253 A318 10,000 91,369 20 (104) 106,077 207,362
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

-~

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows_

REFHRERERE

Yearended 31 March 2025 #{Z202543/31H 1FFE

FEReRER

2025
20255

2024
20244
HK$'000
FiBT

HK$'000
FTET

Profit/(loss) before tax BERTER, (EE) 24,036 (61,953)
Adjustments for: BATEIERE -
Finance costs BhE KA 11 394 345
Share of results of an associate e /NG E 21 494 -
Interest income FBEUWA 9 (2,264) (1,635)
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - WELRETE
equipment 18 1,526 2,066
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEERE 19 398 999
Rental deposits forfeited BWHEZS 9 197 -
Loss on disposal and write off of property, HE RSB - BB R
plant and equipment, net 2 B EE 9,13 935 -
Remeasurement upon lease modification MEBFRENTE 9 (127) -
Changes in fair value of investment WEME RN THEZS)
properties 20 19,193 19,145
(Reversal of provision)/provision for BHEERE(RERRD),
impairment allowance on contract BT
assets, net 24 (16,260) 33,329
Provision for impairment allowance on B SRR FIR R E R
trade receivables, net et 25 6,624 16,913
Net provision/(reversal of provision) for BR TG,/ (BERE)
rectification works et 29 5,385 (3,136)
Unrealised foreign exchange gains, net RE IR INE IR FEE (90) 3)
Operating profit before working capital EEEPHATNLE R
changes 40,441 6,070
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BHIEERD, (M) 418 (36,702)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables E SRl RER L, (35G0) 2,343 (12,642)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other  FBAFRIE ~ 24 M E thfEUR
receivables SRIAIE hN (1,433) (633)
Decrease in contract liabilities AHBERL - (3,816)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables Z S REMNFBECRD), 35()(i) (6,989) 40,441
Increase in other payables and accruals H b B~ 008 N FEET B g 0 1,745 1,402
Utilisation of provision for rectification @Jﬁﬁ B TIREE
works 29 (487) (1,326)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KEEBAE(FTR)BRE 36,038 (7,206)
Finance costs paid ETREE KA (394) (345)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded/(paid) BRE (B BEBFEH 9,177 (2,403)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) R E@J}Eﬁﬁ/(ﬁﬁﬁﬁ VS
operating activities MEFEE 44,821
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HeKRER

Yearended 31 March 2025 #{Z202543431H1FF/E

2025 2024
20254 20244F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FER FiBT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZDFBERSRE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received BYFIE 2,264 1,635
Increase in interest in an associate B R BRI AN 21 - =
Increase in amount due from an associate JE WSS X B ERIBE N (1,574) -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  BEE#1% - 5 MR (366) (922)
Increase in pledged deposits ERFRIEM (20,368) (8115)
Purchases of investment properties IBEREYHE 20 (1,593) (21,203)
Net cash flows used in investing activities KRETBTAREREFE (21,637) (28,605)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Principal elements of lease payments HENRz AR S 35(c) (321) (987)
Bank borrowings raised EIRITHENK 35(b) = 6,928
Repayment on bank borrowings BEBITHERK 35(b) (357) (227)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from mEFRE(FTA) FTERE
financing activities =5 (678) 5714
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE SEE=SBHTE
RATE CHANGES (2) (6)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH RERAEEEER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2 ORA) 22,504 (32,851)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FONRERRESEEHER
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 30,704 63,555
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRNWAERRESEEHER
END OF THE YEAR 53,208 30,704
0 Represent amount less than HK$1,000. o e @A HN,000% 7T ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements )

GENERAL INFORMATION

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The address of its registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of business
is Flat A & D, 4/F, Phase 1, Kwai Shing Industrial Building, 36-40 Tai Lin
Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong. The Company’s
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 17 January 2020.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out below. The Company and its
subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the "Group”.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate and ultimate parent
of the Company is Ornate Bright Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI") and Mr. Chen Yuet Wa is the ultimate
controlling party of the company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKD") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

£H

Sino Keen Limited

ELERDT

Mega Brim Limited

ERBRAR

Wah Wo Aluminium Work
Company Limited

ENRETRERAF
Wah Kee (R&M) Limited

ETRERRAT
Word Classic International
Limited
EEERERAA
Wah Yu Global Investment
Company Limited
ERRRERRAT
Wah Dee Investment
Company Limited
ERERRAT
Will Treasure (Group) Limited

ZE(RE)ERAA
Wah Ah Investment
Company Limited
ERRERRAA
Wah Lam Investment
Company Limited
ZERERRAA
Wah Wo Design (Wuhan)
Company Limited
("Wah Wo Wuhan")*
ENR (R BRAR
([#nzRE))

Principal country of operation
and place of incorporation,
kind of legal entity
FTEEXVERREMAL
WE - AEERER

BVI, limited liability company

EBRAES  BRALAA

BVI, limited liability company

EBRAES BRALAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&8 ARALLA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&% BREELA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&% ARELAA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&% ARELAA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&% ARELARA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&% ARELAA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&% ARELAA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&% ARELARA

The People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC’), limited liability company

PEARKAE(HE]) - BR
NG

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - =12 [% & B A R A7)

Registered/issued

share capital

B/ &R

Uss2
VE
Uss1
1%
HKS10000

10,000787C

HK$10,000

10,00087C
HKS1

18T
HKS 1,000

100087
HK$1,000

100087
HKS1

18T
HKS 1

18T
HKS 1

1B
HK$1,000000

100000077

1. —RE® @

FRMEARNER
ARBEEMBARFBLT

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Group

BERFEENERA L

Direct

Ef

100

100

Indirect

3

100

100

100

100

100

100

Principal activities

IRERED

Investment holding

REBR

Investment holding

REBR

Provision of aluminium works related
services and trading of tools and
equipment

REPETRAMRBAREET
AR

Provision of aluminium works related
services

Rt RE TIRAWRS

Investment properties

RENF

Investment properties

RENF

Investment properties

RENF

Investment properties

RENF

Investment properties

RENF

Investment properties

RENZE
Provision of drawing and
design services

TR REE R AT IR

The English name of Wah Wo Wuhan represents the translated name of the company as no English name has been registered. Wah Wo
Wuhan is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.

EMRENREXERIEZARNPERE  ERTESLREH - EMRNERSRETBAEZMOINGBELE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements )

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA"). HKFRS Accounting Standards comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKAS"); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards
The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards and interpretation issued by the HKICPA
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 April 2024 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants
Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
("HK'Int 5”) (Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 - —E — U/~ R EF R
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

(a)

(b)

Application of new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards (continued)

The application of the new amendments and interpretation
listed above did not have any material impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are not expected to significantly
affect the current or future periods.

Change in accounting policy as a result of application
of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF”) - Long Service Payment
(“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong

The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong which
are obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain circumstances.
Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory MPF contributions to
the trustee who administers the assets held in a trust solely for
the retirement benefits of each individual employee. Offsetting
of LSP against an employee’s accrued retirement benefits derived
from employers’ MPF contributions was allowed under the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57). In June 2022, the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region gazetted the
Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset
severance payment and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition will
officially take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In
addition, under the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s
salary immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of
the date of termination of employment) is used to calculate the
portion of LSP in respect of the employment period before the
Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for the
offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from abolition of
the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of
this, the Group has implemented the guidance published by the
HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation retrospectively so
as to provide more reliable and more relevant information about
the effects of the offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - Z= /12X £ E A R A 7
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Notes to the Financial Statements )

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

(b)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application
of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF”) - Long Service Payment
(“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong (continued)
The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from employer
MPF contributions that have been vested with the employee
and which could be used to offset the employee’s LSP benefits
as a deemed contribution by the employee towards the LSP.
Historically, the Group has been applying the practical expedient
in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 to account for the deemed
employee contributions as a reduction of the service cost in the
period in which the related service is rendered.

Based on the HKICPA's guidance, as a result of the Abolition,
these contributions are no longer considered “linked solely to the
employee’s service in that period” since the mandatory employer
MPF contributions after the Transition Date can still be used to
offset the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore, it would not
be appropriate to view the contributions as “independent of
the number of years of service” and the practical expedient in
paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 is no longer applicable. Instead, these
deemed contributions should be attributed to periods of service
in the same manner as the gross LSP benefit applying paragraph
93(a) of HKAS 19.

To better reflect the substance of the Abolition of the offsetting
mechanism, the Group has applied the above HKICPA guidance
and no material impact on the Group'’s profit or loss for the
year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 and the Group’s and the
Company'’s financial position as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS 3. BRANETE] RS BB MR
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND CHANGE IN HEASTEA RS BERS
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued) LI1E))

(c) Revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in issue but () EEMEERERZEBITES
not yet effective B EEN ST ER
Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial HEERSHReMBHRETIEES -
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new standards BB AGERME TRERE
and amendments to standards and interpretation, which are not 20253 A31 B IEFE M ARAEME I
effective for the year ended 31 March 2025 and which have not ERZEM IR P ERAA T ET
been adopted in these financial statements. The Group has not BIARZEANERT AR - AEH
early applied the following which may be relevant to the Group: WERFEEANTAEEASER

B2 ZE8

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after

RT3 B8Rz &KABE

SIFHBEXN
Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 - Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
R ERIEN R R BB BMEERFE IR 2B A —RZ A it 202551 A1H
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Classification and Measurement of 1 January 2026

Financial Instruments

BRUBREENFEIR N B EMNBRELRF R ZET A - ITAD 2026F1 H1H

BNETE
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026
ERUBREENGFTERINFESE-F 11 20265F1 718
HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
BB IR E AR 185% — Bk 2 25 KR E 20274F1 A1R
Amendments to HK Int 5 — Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification 1 January 2027

by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
BERBESRZIET A —MHRRNZ) - BERAEBERERERK 2027°F1 A1 H
R EHERZH A
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets between To be determined by the HKICPA
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

BANBREERE 105 REBEAERFE 285 2 BT AR — 1R E & A HSRBETHHIARERE
ERRNEEPECHANEEREIEE

The directors of the Company are in the process of making KRR EBEETHZEMETE
an assessment of what the impacts of these new standards, Al ERETTARZRBEEHRER
amendments to standards and interpretation that are expected HRCEHREE - 25 R1E  HR
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded R RENEEMBREERIZE 8
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact R mER 2 REEI - R
on the consolidated financial statements except for the adoption Mz SRR - EANSFT A K2
of HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements BETEHESVBRRELEEX

By 4ER
& o
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Notes to the Financial Statements J

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

(c) Revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in issue but
not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”
HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of financial
statements”, introducing new requirements that will help to
provide more relevant information and transparency to users.
Even though HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or
measurement of items in the financial statements, it introduces
significant changes to the presentation of consolidated
financial statements, with a focus on information about financial
performance present in the statement of profit or loss, which will
affect how the Group present and disclose financial performance
in the financial statements. The key changes introduced in HKFRS
18 relate to (i) the structure of the statement of profit or loss, and
(i) enhanced requirements for aggregation and disaggregation
of information.

The directors of the Company are currently assessing the impact
of applying HKFRS 18 on the presentation and the disclosures of
the consolidated financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. investment properties that are
measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the
process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in Note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

3.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the

practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date

the control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group.

(b) Separate financial statements

In the Company's statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investments. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received

or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the

investee's net assets including goodwill.

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - Z= /12X £ E A R A 7
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Notes to the Financial Statements_

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(c)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other
entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right
contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is included in
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

4.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(c)

Associates (continued)

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. When the Group's share of losses in an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net
investment in the associate), the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses
not recognised.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements )

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation

(@

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKD, which is the
Company's functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the entity
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are determined.
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Financial Statements
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31 March 2025 202543431H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(d)

(ii) Trans

Foreign currency translation (continued)

actions and balances in each entity’s financial

statements (continued)

When

a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised

in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

(iii) Trans

lation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all foreign operations

(none

of which has the currency of hyperinflationary

economy) that have a functional currency different from
the Company'’s presentation currency are translated into
the Company's presentation currency as follows:

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the foreign currency translation reserve.
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Notes to the Financial Statements_

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(d)

(e)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation (continued)
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in the foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purpose, are
stated in the consolidated statements of financial position at
cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost over the estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful annual rates are as
follows:

Over the lease terms
Over the lease terms

20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Carpark
Leasehold improvements
Office and computer equipment

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(f)

(9)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being constructed
or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured
at that time.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is withdrawn from use. Any gain or loss
on disposal of an investment property is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the property,
and is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is accounted for as described in note 4(0).

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements |

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(9)

Leases (continued)

(@

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as
a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease
liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by
individual lessee, which does not have recent third-
party financing, and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 March 2025 202543431H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4, ERETEHERER#E)

(continued)
(g) Leases (continued) (9 HE®#E)
(i) The Group as a lessee (continued) (i) FEBEERBRBAGE)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to
the individual lessee (through recent financing or market
data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease,
then the group entities use that rate as a starting point to
determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, and
any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost
of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, except for the right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with Note 4(f).

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract that is
not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.
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Notes to the Financial Statements )

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(9)

(h)

Leases (continued)

(i) The Group as alessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in Note
4(t) and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset
or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(i)

Construction contracts and contract costs

Revenue from the provision of construction services is recognised
over time, using an output method to measure progress towards
complete satisfaction of the service, because the Group's
performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The output method
recognises revenue by reference to completion of specific
transaction assessed on basis of the work certified up to the end
of the reporting period as a percentage of total contract value for
each contract.

The Group regularly assesses the possible outcome of
construction contracts based on latest facts and circumstances
occurred in the construction contracts, and past experience in
conducting similar construction work. When there is a change in
the expected outcome of construction contracts, the Group will
adjust the amounts of contract revenue to be recognised in profit
or loss prospectively.

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses for early
completion or suffering contractual penalties for late completion
are taken into account in making these estimates, such that
revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated
to exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under the
contract, then a provision is recognised.

Contract costs are either the incremental costs of obtaining a
contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a contract with a
customer which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant
and equipment or intangible assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements J

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(i)

1)

Construction contracts and contract costs (continued)
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when
incurred if the costs are expected to be recovered, unless the
expected amortisation period is one year or less from the date
of initial recognition of the asset, in which case the costs are
expensed when incurred. Other costs of obtaining a contract are
expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate directly
to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract; generate or enhance resources that will be used to
provide goods or services in the future; and are expected to be
recovered. Costs that relate directly to an existing contract or
to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract may include
direct labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that are
explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs that are
incurred only because the Group entered into the contract. Other
costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as inventory,
property, plant and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed
as incurred.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

1)

(k)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

- Amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest. Interest income from
the investment is calculated using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements |

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(k)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt investments (continued)

- Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")
— recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest and
the investment is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest income
(calculated using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit or
loss.

- FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling). Changes
in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOC], are recognised in profit or loss as other income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

U]

(m)

(n)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value.
The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective of
collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definition of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRS Accounting Standards. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies
adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are
set out below.

(i)  Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability
is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the
higher of:

- the amount determined in accordance with the ECL
model under HKFRS 9, and
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Notes to the Financial Statements_

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(n)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

(@

(ii)

Financial guarantee contracts (continued)

- the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised in accordance with the principles of
HKFRS 15

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined
based on the present value of the difference in cash
flows between the contractual payments required under
the debt instrument and the payments that would be
required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount
that would be payable to a third party for assuming the
obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables
of associates are provided for no compensation, the fair
values are accounted for as contributions and recognised as
part of the cost of the investment.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the
end of the reporting period, the Group has a right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on
or before the end of the reporting period, are considered
in classifying loan arrangements with covenants as current
or non-current. Covenants that the Group is required to
comply with after the reporting period do not affect the
classification at the reporting date.

4.

MR E

31 March 2025 202543431H

BEREHBEER®)

(n)

TREERKREATAE)

(i

(ii)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 - —Z — U/~ 4 E 3R

MBERREN(E)
BRAERNEERIRE
BB REERFES
SRR BIRER M 2T
AeE(EA) -

MBERO D FEREBTA
TAFHNA QO REEL &
ERTAERON R ZENR
ERENEFERIRE - B
EEEMAIEANTE=TTH
EETEBETE -

R EET AR ERBNE
TR EA B SRIBLE AR -
AEBAFEIELEAK
W HERBRERAN—FED

&
RS EDTENE - AR
EEERHHA - HEAIER
B R R A -

BRIEAEENRERRBES
BEMNEEREEREHERE
PHZEA - BABRDER

mEBEE -

R HRZABNE R R DR
//ILEjJ_‘Z;F/IILEjJET A%J—QZKK
BRI E IR BIZAE T
Lin - NERH - XEER
BERRAETHZAE T E

INK
DHE e

Z




Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4, ERETEHERER#E)

(continued)

(n) Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued) (n) SRMABERRAIAE)

(iii) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

(iv) Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added taxes, sales taxes, returns and is
after deduction of any trade rebates and discounts.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for
the Group's activity described below:

(i)  Construction contracts
Revenue from construction contracts is recognised in
accordance with the policy set out in Note 4(i) above.

(ii) Interestincome
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

(iii) Rental income

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.
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Notes to the Financial Statements J

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(p)
(i)

(ii)

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligation - defined contribution plans
Hong Kong

The Group contributes to defined contribution MPF
scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance in Hong Kong (the "MPF Scheme”), for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

The People’s Republic of China ("PRC”)

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC,
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute to a state-
managed retirement plan for all its employees at a certain
percentage of the basic salaries of its employees (the “PRC
Retirement Scheme”). The PRC Retirement Scheme is
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
all retired employees. Under PRC Retirement Scheme, the
Group has no further obligations for the actual pension
payments or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4, ERETEHERER#E)

The Group has a defined benefit plan for LSP under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit
plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating
the amount of future benefit that employees have earned
in the current and prior periods and discounting that
amount. For LSP obligations, the estimated amount of
future benefit is determined after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived from
the Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested with
employees, which are deemed to be contributions from
the relevant employees.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed
by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method. Remeasurements arising from defined benefit
plans, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, and
the effect of any asset ceiling (excluding interest), are
recognised immediately in other comprehensive income.
Net interest expense for the period is determined by
applying the discount rate used to measure the defined
benefit obligation at the beginning of the reporting period
to the then net defined benefit liability, taking into account
any changes in the net defined benefit liability during the
period. Net interest expense and other expenses related to
defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

(continued)
(p) Employee benefits (continued) (p) EETRE)
(iii) Post employment benefits (iii) BERIRER
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Notes to the Financial Statements _ .

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(r)

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(r)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the Group
whose business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax for such investment properties are measured
based on the expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(r)

(s)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences
can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed
at each reporting date for indications of impairment and
where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income to its estimated recoverable amount
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. If
this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit (“CGU") to which the asset belongs. Recoverable
amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs
of disposal of the individual asset or the CGU.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/CGU. Present values are computed using
pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset/CGU whose impairment is being
measured.

Impairment losses for CGU are allocated pro rata amongst the
assets of the CGU. Subsequent increases in the recoverable
amount caused by changes in estimates are credited to profit or
loss to the extent that they reverse the impairment unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(t)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, contract assets, pledged
bank deposits and bank and cash balances, as well as on
financial guarantee contracts. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for lease receivables,
trade receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements J

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(t)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts,
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources
of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the
Group's core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; or
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31 March 2025 202543431H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4, ERETEHERER#E)

(continued)
(t) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets t) ERMEERSHNEERESE)

(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued) FERBEZEEME)

—  an actual or expected significant adverse change in the fiﬁ%/\ﬁ'lﬁk”& OB SRR IR
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the B L B REATFE
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s @Jﬁﬁ%@lﬁﬁ%/\ﬁﬁfﬁﬁ% B
ability to meet its debt obligations. AIBEIR

Irespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group Nem LAt s & Rl - AEER

presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased E o BANNFREBEE308 - 8l

significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments 5 N ERARE@ME EEERR

are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable EREEEN  BRIEAEEESER
and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. BEBRNERHERER -

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on BEWM LA - WEBITAERNKRE

a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial HHEEREBREEFEERR - 8]

recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have AEEBEZeRITANEERR

low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is =] %ﬂﬁAﬁEou«AXIEZ%E%i*jJD o it
determined to have low credit risk if: HIR T IS cRITAETERA
BRIE Zfﬁ

()  thefinancial instrument has a low risk of default, () SRTEEFEELERR

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual (i) EBAREHANEEERES
cash flow obligations in the near term, and BITEEHRERERT K

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in (i) REIECE R EBIR R H)
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the @J—IAWE‘T EHIRERAR
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow THEHNRERERE AN
obligations. 77 °
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(t)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade”
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating
of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there are no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(t)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Definition of default (continued)

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

= a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- The disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Financial Staten;ents

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(t)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the expected credit losses is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(u)

(v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation. The
discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in
Note 4, the directors are required to make judgements (other than
those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the
amounts recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

(a)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group has the primary responsibility for fulfilment of
the contract, quality and warranty of the overall work and
has discretion in selecting subcontractors and determining
the pricing for subcontractors. Thus, the Group is acting as
the principal and recognises revenue on a gross basis. The
determination of the progress of the construction service
involves judgements. The Group recognises revenue based on
progress confirmation from customers. The confirmation reflects
the progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation, which is measured based on direct measurements
of the value of units delivered or surveys of work performed.
The customers will provide a final statement when the whole
project is completed and may have adjustments on accumulated
confirmation according to the actual engineering quantity till the
day of completion. In addition, when determining the transaction
price, the Group considers factors such as whether there is any
financing component. The Group considers whether the payment
schedule is commensurate with the Group’s performance and
whether the delayed payment is for financing purposes. The
Group has, therefore, recognised revenue based on the progress
confirmation over the period during which the service is rendered
and transferred to customers.
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MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are discussed below.

(i)

Provision for ECL on trade receivables and contract
assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead
to an increased number of defaults in the construction
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECL is a significant estimate. The amount of ECL is sensitive
to changes in circumstances and forecast economic
conditions. The Group'’s historical credit loss experience
and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of trade
receivables and contract assets are HK$8,417,000 (2024:
HK$17,384,000) and HK$55,601,000 (2024: HKS$39,759,000)
respectively, net of allowance for trade receivables and
contract assets of HK$1,776,000 (2024: HK$19,433,000) and
HK$7,526,000 (2024: HK$33,979,000) respectively.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Provision for rectification works

Significant estimates are involved in the determination
of provisions related to rectification works. Accordingly,
management exercises considerable judgement in
determining whether there is a present obligation as a
result of a past event at the reporting date, whether it is
more likely than not that such rectification works under
warranty periods will result in an outflow of resources
and whether the amount of the obligation can be reliably
estimated with reference to the relevant correspondence
and contracts with customers. Management estimates
the cost for rectification works with regard to the Group's
experience in addressing such matters.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group recognised provision for
rectification works amounting to HK$9,980,000 (2024:
HK$5,082,000).

Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer
to assess the fair value of the investment properties. In
determining the fair value, the valuer has utilised a method
of valuation which involves certain estimates. The directors
have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation and inputs used are reflective of the
current market conditions.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31
March 2025 was HK$112,600,000 (2024: HK$130,200,000).
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the

Group's financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities.
The Group currently does not have a formal foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities but will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure should the need arise.

(b) Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk
from its operating activities (primarily trade and other receivables,
and contract assets) and from its financing activities, including

pledged bank deposits and bank and cash balances.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information as described in

Note 4(t).

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross

carrying amounts for financial assets.

\
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. TERIERERE®
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) FERKR#E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BARRKHMORFERFAERR(Z)
As at 31 March 2025 7202563H31H

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL
12 {BAFEH
EEEE 2HEHEEEE

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BB E-RER E=RR SEE% st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET THERT THERT

Contract assets* BREE" - - - 63,127 63,127
Trade receivables* B UGB - - 10,193 10,193
Financial assets included in 5T ATBfFRTE « k& Rk

prepayments, deposits  E- Al EUGKIER) & Bl

and other receivables BE
- Normal** =BG 3,927 - - - 3,927
Pledged bank deposits*** B IRITIF F**
- Not yet past due — M ARIELER 38,656 - - - 38,656
Cash and bank balances*** I8 & K iR1T#EfR*
— Not yet past due — ARE 53,208 - - - 53,208

95,791 = 73,320 169,111

2

y
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
As at 31 March 2024

6. THEAMREE#)

(b) EERRE)
BABBBORFERMERER(ZE)
R2024%3 A31H

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL
12 & A 78 51
&R ZHEREE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
F—EE EFRER F=FEER Bk E i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR THT THT TR
Contract assets* AREE" - - - 73,738 73,738
Trade receivables* B S IEWGRIE* - = = 36,817 36,817
Financial assets included in 5T ATEFRIE « ZE& Rk
prepayments, deposits Al EUGRIER) < Bl
and other receivables B
— Normal** —EE* 1,600 - - - 1,600
Pledged bank deposits*** BRI T1F F**
— Not yet past due — AR 18,288 = = = 18,288
Cash and bank balances*** 38 & K SR 1T & frr+*
— Not yet past due — AR 30,704 = = = 30,704
50,592 - - 110,555 161,147
@ For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has 2 RESERRERANEEM

monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverability of these receivables at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables and contract
assets. The information based on the provision matrix is disclosed
in Notes 24 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that
the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

\ ***  The credit risks on a pledged bank deposits and cash and bank
balances are considered to be insignificant because these are
placed at financial institutions that have sound credit rating.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
Management monitors the creditworthiness and payment
patterns of each debtor closely and on an ongoing basis. The
Group's trade receivables from contract work represent interim
billings or retentions certified by the customers under terms as
stipulated in the contracts. As the Group’s customers in respect
of contract works primarily consist of main contractors in the
construction industry, property developers or owners with strong
financial backgrounds, management considers that the risk of
irrecoverable receivables from contract work is not significant.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical locations
is solely in Hong Kong, which accounted for 100% (2024: 100%)
of the total trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 March
2025. The Group has concentration of credit risk as 27% (2024:
55%) and 65% (2024: 82%) of the total trade receivables and
contract assets was due from the Group’s largest customer and
the five largest customers respectively within the construction
and andillary services segment. In order to minimise the credit risk,
the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits and credit approvals.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in Note 25
to the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its current and expected
liquidity requirements, its compliance with lending covenants
and its relationship with its bankers to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

MR E

31 March 2025 202543431H

6. TEEMERE

(b)

(c)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. TEIRMREE®
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) () RBESRERE)
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash BREAEEHETESHABRNEL
flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities is as follows: RMBRBEERNENINHBEHFTAT

On demand Between Between Total
or within 1and 2and Over undiscounted Carrying
1year 2years 5years 5years cash flow amount

BREXRED RS
R-%R -EmF MERE EEAE REREAR TR
HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HK000
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TATL

At 31 March 2025 R2025%3A31H

Trade payables B HEME 49,844 = = = 49,844 49,344

Financial liabilties included in other st AE A ERFUE R fE

payables and accruals SEANSRAR 6,785 - - - 6,785 6,785

Bank borrowings (Note) RiTtast (M) 7,924 - = = 7,924 6,344

At31 March 2024 0453 A31H

Trade payables B AR 58833 - - - 58833 58833

Financial liabilties included inother st AEhERFE R fE

payables and accruals TERRLRAE 5040 = = = 5040 5040

Lease labilties HERE 99 959 2 - 4109 34

Bank borrowings (Note) BT () 8858 - - - 8858 6,701
Note: Bif3E
Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on HERERERGERORITER AL
demand or within one year” time band in the above maturity analysis. XEHBEAMZZEREEKNR —F
As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate carrying amounts of these bank A EBAEBIA - 202538318 @ %
borrowings amounted to HK$6,344,000 (2024: HK$6,701,000). Taking into ZRTE T AR E B 48 58 /536,344,000
account the Group's financial position, the directors do not believe that it is JT (20245 : 6,701,000/ 7T ) ° & & B A&
probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand SEMMBHRR  EFRARITIAER
immediate repayment. The directors believe that such bank loans will be BB REERZAERATREME T K - &
repaid thirteen years after the end of the reporting period in accordance ERLBZERTEREREBEER SR
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, HOBRTEFXAHNREHRA KRB 13FEE
details of which are set out in the table below: & BBFER TR
Maturity analysis — Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause based on WRIZHE T E 3 H B89 2B H 597 — M1 85
scheduled repayments date BB IRITE

Total
Within Over  undiscounted Carrying
1-2years 2-5years Syears cashoutflows amount

—E@f MERE ) hEH ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 (5000 HKS'000

TAL

At 31 March 2025 R0553R318 5% 5% 1,783 4,953 7924 6,344

\ At 31 March 2024 R04F3A31R 618 618 1,854 5768 8858 6,701
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Notes to the Financial Statements_
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31 March 2025 202543431H

6. THEAMREE#)

Categories of financial instruments (d £mIAE5
2025 2024
20254 20244F
HKS$’000 HKS'000
FHT T
Financial assets: ERMEE :
Financial assets measured at BB HEK AT ENSRIEE
amortised cost 104,208 67,976
Financial liabilities: ERMEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEENAFTENEREE 62,973 70,574
Lease liabilities HEEaE - 3,432
Interest rate risk (e) FIEmEpEx

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk arises from its bank
deposits and bank borrowings. These bank deposits and bank
borrowings bear interests at variable rates that varied with the
then prevailing market condition.

The directors consider there is no expected significant exposure
to interest rate risk, hence, no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Fair values (f
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and financial

liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial

position approximate their respective fair values.
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\
\

NS

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

See Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for disclosure
relating to the investment properties which are measured at fair value.

REVENUE

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers within

BRI ELRERF 1557 EE

NP EFE
RFERTHLREZRANTEREEFF
RHPHEEEMBIHERREMXN
2B - LTAFERBEEAZATES
& BRARFTEAHERNGERITHEA
BB R=ZEBER

F1EHARE : AEERFEBATRE
ZHEREEXAEEEMGRECRE

BE) -

F2BBMABE  F1EMERZIHMEMN
S REERBEFERIMEERSGH
ZEBABIE -

FIBMABE : BEXREBETAEEZ
BARIE -

AEBENBRRASESHERNEERBER
EPNAPER -—ESREENEALE
do

BRI ATEFENREMEEBEKE -
F2HEA P FERRMEE20 -

L6
AT -

2025
20255

2024
20244
HK$'000
FBIT

HK$’000
FExT

the scope of HKFRS 15 AR P& #HKas 478,435 236,407
Rental income AU A 3,688 2,018
482,123 238,425
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REVENUE (continued) 8. Wamm)
Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope ERAMKHREEAFEISHKEEANE
of HKFRS 15 Bk
() Disaggregated revenue information (i) HI>WBEER
2025 2024
2025 20244F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Types of goods and services EmkEEER
Construction services of residential FEEFHRERY
buildings 453,610 165,560
Construction services of non-residential  FE{EFEIEFRIZ LIRS
buildings 24,825 70,847
Total revenue from contracts with EP&EAWREREE
customers 478,435 236,407
Timing of revenue recognition WS R AR
Over time W& Iy 478,435 236,407
Total revenue from contracts with EPAHWERTE
customers 478,435 236,407
The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in TERBERUBERVE AL EE
the current reporting period that was included in the contract B BSR4 HARS e N 25 £ %8 -

liability at the beginning of the reporting period:

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT T

Revenue recognised that was included inthe ~ RREHVIFFA S L BED

contract liability at the beginning of BRI ES
the reporting period
Construction services FREERRTS -
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8. REVENUE (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope
of HKFRS 15 (continued)
(ii) Performance obligation
Information about the Group’s performance obligation is
summarised below:

Construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered and payment is generally due within 30 days from the
date of issuance of the payment certificate. A certain percentage
of payment is retained by customers until the end of the
retention period as the Group’s entitlement to the final payment
is conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the
customers over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

Unsatisfied performance obligations related to construction
contracts:

Amounts of transaction prices expected

8.

TR ARt T 5|8 ] T LARERR,

W)

ERNKRELERNEISFEBANE
BN (E)
(i) MEHEE
BREAEBRBAOEEHER B
T

LR
BHOEXEZREREMEHE
7 BFRE RN EEHBNRER
BEBORAZ AL - EEERE
—TELPIZNREZRESHLER -
Bl 7 7 52 (3] LA BN A% 4R A R 2 4 1 B
ARBEPEALRTE L —BRERA
ERHRGEEERIIME °

BREREANZRTERBHEE

2025
20255

2024
20245
HK$'000
FHBIT

HK$’000
TR

to be recognised: R

Within one year —FR 311,538 362,322

After one year —4F1% 15,673 100,194
327,211 462,516

The amounts of contract sum allocated to the remaining
performance obligations which are expected to be recognised as
revenue after one year relate to construction services, of which
the performance obligations are to be satisfied within three years.
All the other amounts of contract sum allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be recognised as
revenue within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not
include variable consideration which is constrained.

\ Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - E= R EE B R A

N

RESRTEOREFEARN —F&
ﬁwﬁw ) ZEM T RERER
1R HEENEEIRR=FAE
T PEEHRTROBEENMER
e NS BBEHARN —FRAERS
Wk o EXEENESETEREZL
REOREAE -



= i
s B ¢ X,
) S - -
E N ~Te -
_‘:4 < N

Notes to the Financial Statements N €

HEBEME

31 March 2025 202543431H

9. OTHERINCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 9. HAWA - KREREE
An analysis of other income, gains and losses is as follows: HAWA ~ W RBEITHT -
2025 2024
20255 20244F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FTHER FAT
Other income, gains and losses HtA - REREBE

Interest income FLEUA 2,264 1,635
Government subsidies eGSR - 168
Fair value change on investment properties REMEN QT EES) (19,193) (19,145)
Gross income from sales of scrap SHERERHRIRA - 3,135

Loss on disposal and write off of property, plant & &M% « BB MR
and equipment, net KB (935) -
Remeasurement upon lease modification HEBTTRENTE 127 -
Net foreign exchange gains b 5 Yz 558 477 277
Rental deposits forfeited R EZS (197) -
Others Hth 104 65

(17,353) (13,865)
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10. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. BE D ITER

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being
the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resources
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on the
revenue and profits from different types of business divisions.

The Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Construction and ancillary services: this segment engaging in
providing aluminium works related services and trading of tools
and equipment in Hong Kong; and

Rental of investment properties: this segment engaging in leasing
of investment properties in Hong Kong.

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with that in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

The directors assess the performance of the operating segments based
on a measure of segment result. Unallocated income, unallocated
corporate expenses, finance costs, income tax expense and other major
items that are isolated and non-recurring in nature are not included in
segment results.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current assets
as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position except
unallocated bank and cash balances, deferred tax assets, income tax
recoverables and other unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-current
liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position
except income tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities and other allocated
liabilities.
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KEHIER #)

AR 2K HHEFHEE
EERBENER

10. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10.

() Information about reportable segment profit or loss, (i)
assets and liabilities

Construction Rental of
and ancillary investment
services properties  Unallocated Total
BER REW*
BER e AAE #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TER TET TER
For the year ended B Z2025F3A31H
31 March 2025 LFE
External revenue ShaBlsEs 478,435 3,688 - 482,123
Segment results DEEE 43,104 (17,714) (1,354) 24,036
Depreciation of property, WE - WEREERE
plant and equipment 1,432 70 24 1,526
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ {FREBENE
assets 398 - - 398
Interest income FIBIA - - 2,264 2,264
Finance costs BB A - - 394 394
Other material items of income  EAtEAMERFLIEE :
and expenses:
Cost of raw materials and FMREARSBER
sub-contracting charge 362,860 - - 362,860
Staff costs, including directors’  BTAA @ BIEEEFI
emoluments 45,816 988 852 47,656
Other material non-cash items:  EMEAIREIBE :
Provision for rectification BN TREHTE
works, net 5,385 - - 5,385
Reversal of provision for B ORMTIERANEE
impairment allowance AEEERRTE
on trade receivables and
contract assets, net 9,636 = - 9,636
Fair value loss on investment  REME A TEFR
properties - 19,193 - 19,193
Additions to non-current REINDEE
assets 366 1,593 - 1,959
As at 31 March 2025 R2025%3A31H
Segment assets DEEE 160,899 117,323 2,144 280,366
Segment liabilities HEBEE 63,622 7,727 1,655 73,004
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10. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. KESWER ()
() Information about reportable segment profit or loss, (i) BRAE2H|HD BRIRFHESE -
assets and liabilities (continued) EERBBENERE)
Construction Rental of
and ancillary [IE
services properties Unallocated Total
BER REME
BREMR HE AP ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TAT FHET FET
For the year ended B 22024F3A318
31 March 2024 ILFE
External revenue hEBlEs 236,407 2018 = 238425
Segment results DEEE (41,159) (19,240) (1,554) (61953)
Depreciation of property, WE - WEREERE
plant and equipment 2,044 9 13 2,066
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ {FFEBENE
assets 999 = = 999
Interest income MEBA - - 1635 1635
Finance costs BEMA - = 345 345

Other material items of income  EttEAWE KFHATIAE :
and expenses:

Cost of raw materials and FEMERARD B ER

sub-contracting charge 180,459 - - 180,459
Staff costs, including directors’  BTRA @ BIEEEEH S
emoluments 35,081 922 599 36,602

Other material non-cash items:  EMEAIFREIER :

Reversal of provision for By TR R S
rectification works, net 3,136 = = 3,136
Provision for impairment B RMGTIERA N EE
allowance on trade AEEETE
receivables and contract
assets, net 50,242 - = 50,242
Fair value loss on investment ~ REMEATEER
properties = 19,145 = 19,145
Additions to non-current REIFNDEE
assets 5820 23,945 121 29,886
As at 31 March 2024 R202453 H31H
\\ Segment assets NHEE 132,849 135,543 1380 269,772
\ Segment liabilities HEBEE 70,193 7,594 1356 79,143
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10. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(ii)

Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss,

assets and liabilities

10. K&

(ii)

MR E

31 March 2025 202543431H

DEER @)

2/ FPEFNHEE BEK
BENYR

2025 2024
20254 20244F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
Profit or loss R EE
Total profits/(losses) of reportable segments 7] 235 20& 51, (E518 ) 4858 25,390 (60,399)
Unallocated amounts: RO EEE
Unallocated income RABUA 2,317 1,635
Unallocated expenses ROERZ (3,671) (3,189)
Consolidated profit/(loss) before tax REBRFRIRF, (EE) 24,036 (61,953)
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AIE2MNFEERE 278,222 268,392
Unallocated corporate assets RO EEE 2,144 1,380
Consolidated total assets IRAEEBE 280,366 269,772
Liabilities afE
Total liabilities of reportable segments AIEmO A ERRE 71,349 77,787
Unallocated corporate liabilities FVaN = =N 1,655 1,356
Consolidated total liabilities meBBEERs 73,004 79,143
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10. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(iii) Geographical information
Since all of the Group's revenue was generated in Hong Kong, no
geographical information by revenue is presented.

An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets by their physical
geographical location is as follow:

10. KRETWER#)
(iii) HEER
BARAEBRE RS REES -
W £ 251U s IR A o

AEBEFRBEER L BRI
BEEDHDNIAT

2025 2024

20254 20245

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Hong Kong B 116,459 138,104
PRC e 171 3,605
116,630 141,709

The non-current assets information above is based on the
location of the assets which exclude deposits and deferred tax
assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements .

HEERME

31 March 2025 202543431H

10. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. REDIHER®)
(iv) Information about major customers (iv) BEEEEZEFNER
Revenue from external customers contributing to 10% or more of EAREE WS REER AL 10%3A -
the total revenue of the Group is as follows: HINBE P Y ERIAT -
2025 2024
2025 20244F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER AT
Customer A EPA 209,180 N/ANE AR
Customer B 2B 75,382 99,044
Customer C EFC 57,110 -
Customer D =FD N/ATE R 29,458
Customer E =PE - 25,981
W The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the : FEPE I 2 N A AR SR B A R 1)
total revenue of the Group. 10% A _E ©
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. AERAE
2025 2024
2025 20244F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx AT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 143 160
Interest on mortgage loans RIBERF B 251 185
394 345

y

2
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MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

12.

\
\

NS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

12. FIEHR<(ER)

2025 2024
2025 20244F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FER T
Current tax BN EATR IR
Hong Kong Profits Tax ARG
— Provision for the year —RNEERE 2,242 6
— Under-provision in current year —RNEERETE (777) =
— Under/(over)-provision in prior years —BEFERETR
(HBgER ) 30 21
1,495 (15)
Deferred tax (Note 23) RER A (MI7E23) 5,714 (6,832)
7,209 (6,847)

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at 16.5% (2024: 16.5%) based
on the estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 March 2025,
except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying corporation
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.

Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, profits tax rate for the first HK$2
million of assessable profits of qualifying corporations established in
Hong Kong will be lowered to 8.25% and profits above that amount will
be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%.

Pursuant to the PRC EIT Law and the respective regulations, the
subsidiary which operates in the Mainland China is subject to corporate
income tax at a rate of 25% on the taxable income.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in respect
thereof.

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - =12 [% & B A R A7)

HE2025F3A3BILLFE  FBFE
oL {51 B SR B U 7 32 16.5% (2024 4F
165%) BB Rt IRl - MRS E —REH
BARKRIN  ZARAFENEH MRS
HIREE -

REFEHAAS - REBHILNEER
EEEEB T ERF N FIEHE
R T FHE-25% @ HBiB2H & 78 T
FI54%16.5% 2 T R o

REBEFBELEMETOERBEESR - R
B P 3t S RO B B A R ZB BB ER A M A I
25%H) T R FAN RIS -

H A bt 52 AR A& A 2 BEIR ST HH THE AR
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HEBEME

31 March 2025 202543431H

2. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued) 12. FIfSBiBAY (&) @)
The reconciliation between the income tax expense/(credit) and the FTisfim Y (%) BRI ANEF, (8
product of profit/(loss) before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong Profits BIFRUBBFNEGUB LGB ERER
Tax rate is as follows: U

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THAT

Profit/(loss) before tax BEADE R (E518) 24,036 (61,953)

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5%  1£16.5%(2024%F : 16.5%) &5

(2024: 16.5%) MSHREAE Zf}%’lﬁ 3,966 (10,222)
Tax effect of the two-tiered Profits Tax FIAS T AR Bl O B T R 2

rates regime (165) (5)
Under-provision in current year REEBRETZ (777) -
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BEFERETR (HBRERH) 30 21
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BERBIUWM AN G2 (304) (373)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible N A] F1%% 5 S FO R 75 o 28 3,503 3,699
Tax effect of temporary difference not RERERFMEZENTBTE

recognised 828 (26)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RERNHIBEENB BT E 137 17
Effect of different tax rate of a subsidiary —RM B AR TR ENTE (4) 7)
Tax concession MIBEE (5) ©)
Income tax expense/(credit) FTiERiAsx (k) 7,209 (6,847)
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MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

13. PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 13. FRBEF(EHE)
The Group's profit/(loss) for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) AEEBFREF (BB (GEA)
the following: THBRERARK
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FEx FAT
Cost of construction work FREETRERK AR 425,544 216,531
Auditor's remuneration IZ BTN &
— Audit services — FET IR 780 780
— Non-audit services — IR RTS 200 200
Depreciation of property, plant and Y -« BEMEETE
equipment 18 1,526 2,066
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 19 398 999
Fair value change on investment KEYMFENTEE
properties 20 19,193 19,145
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEA B ENHE
measurement of lease liabilities NN 19(c) 1,737 1,359
Loss on disposal and write off of E RMEEYIZE - BB K&
property, plant and equipment, net 2 EE - FRE 935 =
Remeasurement upon lease HEBFIEENTE
modification (127) =
(Reversal of provision)/provision for AHBERE B HEREE),
impairment allowance on contract BiE - RE
assets, net* 24 (16,260) 33,329
Provision for impairment allowance on & 5 FEW R I8 B B B
trade receivables, net" FERY 25 6,624 16,913
Net foreign exchange gains b 5 e 58 (477) (277)
Provision/(reversal of provision) for BW TIREE, (B ERE )
rectification works* 29 5,385 (3,136)
2 For the year ended 31 March 2025, salaries and allowances of * HZE2025F3A31RIEFE  Faek#E
HK$35,920,000 (2024: HK$26,027,000), discretionary bonuses of 535,920,000 7T (2024 FF : 26,027,00078
HK$2,845,000 (2024: HK3,814,000), retirement benefit for defined 7o)~ BB AEAT 2,845,000 7T (2024 FF -
contribution plans of HK$1,404,000 (2024: HK$1,221,000) and changes 3,814,000% 7T ) * EREHERETE 2 BIKE
in provision for rectification works of HK$5,385,000 (2024: HK$3,136,000), F111,404,00078 7T (2024 4F = 1,221,000/ 7T)
respectively, are included in cost of construction work disclosed above. T B ok T 32 B 4542 85,385,000 7T (2024

F 1 3,136,000 70 ) B 99 BIEF A £ XX FTH
ERRETIRMA o

# Included in “Reversal of provision/(provision) for impairment allowance on @ AR ER MEM PP RRP O E
trade receivables and contract assets, net” in the consolidated statement SREWGBRANEEREREGRR,
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. (Bt)F8] -
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14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

MR E

31 March 2025 202543431H

14. BERAAX(BEEEHE)

2025 2024

20254 20244F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FiBT

Salaries and allowances e RoER 41,600 30,954

Discretionary bonus BB AL 4,709 4268

Directors' fee =ik 353 360
Retirement benefit for defined contribution TERRMRRET 8 2 RIKEF (FIEE)

plans (Note) 9294 1,020

47,656 36,602

Note: During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had no
forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme and the PRC Retirement
Scheme and which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level
of contributions. There were also no forfeited contributions available at
31 March 2025 and 2024 under the MPF Scheme and the PRC Retirement
Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the contribution
payable in future years.

15. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

B eE : B 220255 2 2024F3 A31BIEFE -
AEERBESHEIRPRRKEEIET
A 48 B2 UG A B AT A AN S B A A RE R
BEFOKFE - B E2025% K 202443 A31
B SESTE RPBRARGTEE T
48 B S WA 3R AT AR 52 B A DA R 2R
HEEMNZ MR -

15. EEEMNRER
BEERTETHAEHM
RIBHRFTES FMRA - AFIEHE
383)@) * () * OROBEARDR(REE
EFHBEDBHIE 2 FRNEERTS
TRABHMEEST :

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THAT

Directors’ fee BEEMe 353
Salaries and allowances e KoER 2,232
Discretionary bonus EyIBTEAL 1,600

Retirement benefit for defined contribution TE BB RGT B 2 R IRE T
plans 36
4,221
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

15. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS (continued) 15. EEENRER 2

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration (continued) BEERFETHRAETMZE)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEME
The emoluments of each director were as follows: ZEEMENIST ¢

Retirement

benefit for

defined

Salariesand  Discretionary  contribution

Fees allowances LT plans Total
TR E

weE  HEREW BtEEA BARER At

HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000

TAT TAL TAT TEL TAT

Yearended31March 2025  #Z202553A310LEE

Executive directors HITEE
Mr.Chen Yuet Wa (Chaimanand  FRIZE L4 (EERATHER)

chief executive) - 1,116 1,500 18 2,634
Mr. Chan Fai gk s - 1,116 100 18 1,234

Independent non-executivedirectors B 78t /7EE

Ms. Ding Xin (note () THr 2L (BEE) 70 - - - 70
Mr. Yu Chi Wing THEEE 120 - - - 120
Mr.Yeung YiuMan (note (i)~ BBR £ (HIH)) 7 - - - 7
Mr. Wu Wing Kuen (note (i) ﬁHN’E%E(WE(m ) 56 - - - 56
Mr. Chow Chi Fai (note (iv) B () 50 = - = 50
Mr. Chan Hon Ki (note (iv)) %%HM(MTE(W ) 50 - - - 50

353 2,232 1,600 36 4,221

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE04F3A31BILERE

Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (Chairman and - FRIEIZE o4 (E R 1 THURR)

chief executive) - 1,080 100 18 1,198
Mr. Chan Fai FRigkE - 1,080 100 18 1198

Independent non-executive directors B 781 /7EE

Mr. Chow Chi Fai FEBRE 120 = = = 120
Mr. Chan Hon Ki RELnE 120 = = = 120
Mr. Yu Chi Wing THEEE 120 - - - 120

360 2,160 200 36 2,756
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15. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration (continued)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)
Notes:

(a)

(b)

0]

(ii)

(iii)

Ms. Ding Xin was appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 30 August 2024.

Mr. Yeung Yiu Man was appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 11 March 2025.

Mr. Wu Wing Kuen was appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 30 August 2024 and deceased on 17
February 2025.

Mr. Chow Chi Fai and Mr. Chan Hon Ki were resigned as
independent non-executive director of the Company on 29
August 2024.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the year ended 31 March
2025 (2024 Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the reporting
period included 2 (2024: 2) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments of the
remaining 4 (2024: 3) highest paid individuals during the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 were as follows:

Salaries and allowances e MEAh
Discretionary bonus EYIBTEAL

Retirement benefit for defined

contribution plans

MR E

31 March 2025 202543431H

15. EEEINRER @)

EERIETBRAEHME)
@ E=ME)
P -

(b)

TE R HSRAT 812 R IR R

0]

(ii)

(iff)

THrZ+R2024F8 A30B EE T
ARATEBLIERITES -

BRREAN2025FE3/ 11 BES
TAERRBY IENITES -

HAKHESE AR 20248 B30 B R
EAEARRARBLIERITES &
%2025 2 17 BB ©

JB RSN 5T A T PROZ H SE A 7R 2024
F8A29ABEA R RIBIIEBTT
=

REZE2025F3A31HIEFE » #
EITHRAER ST EERELF
BIRETAINE (20245 « ) ©

TEBREHFAL

RIFEHRE - AEBRERRHA
+BIE2EZ (20244 : 2Z)EE - ®
EHHER EXMEN S ITH KR
B o B 20259 2024938318 1E

FE

P HEraE (20245 38) &=

FALHBMEMT
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000

THET ;
3,132 2,358
480 450

72

3,684
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31 March 2025 202543431H

15. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Five highest paid individuals (continued)
The emoluments fell within the following band:

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 =% 1,000,000/ 7T

15. EEEMRER 2

ESRIERITRAERHME)
(b) EEREHFALHE)
e N FUATEE :

Number of individuals

AB

2025 2024
20254 20244

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emoluments
were paid or payable by the Group to chief executive, any of the
directors or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

Saved as disclosed in Note 37, no other transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company was a party and in which
the directors of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors during the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024.

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - =12 [% & B A R A7)

(c)

(d)

B £ 2025F M 202453 431 H IEF
B AEEBERITRER - AW
EZdma i AT RERNER
e ERMARE B S INARSEE
FrA) SR B S fE AR (E -

BEENRS ZHREHNERE
#%

BROITEES7ATIE A SN + BEEEAR
AMERRINARANRESHEE
AEDZ(TwmBEESRBEE)NAELEE
XBBBERFERIEZ20255F K
20243 A31 A IEFE AR EF
BHHMEARS « THERAL -

BRLEE  SZSEEEHNE
AERERZEEENHEERAT
HANEN EERRHEMRZH
B 22025 M 20245331 H IEF
B UWENES ZREEFEH
HREANBRBLEZEESNHETE
BEBAELHHER EERRHE
RS o
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Notes to the Financial Statements )

BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration (continued)

(e) Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services
During the year ended 31 March 2025, no consideration was
provided to or receivable by third parties for making available
director’s services (2024: Nil).

DIVIDENDS

The board of directors has resolved not to declare any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of the basic earnings (2024: loss) per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$16,827,000
(2024: loss of HK$55,106,000) and the number of ordinary shares of
1,000,000,000 (2024: 1,000,000,000) in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

The diluted earnings (2024: loss) per share was the same as the basic
earnings (2024: loss) per share for the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024 as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the respective years.

15.

16.

17.
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31 March 2025 202543431H

EEEMNRER®)

EERTETHAEEFME)

(e) FPMERMEERBMEE=HZM
R E
REZE20255F3831BIEFE @ #
EREREEEREMAE =X
5 MEE =R EKREAAE
(20245 : £E) -

Hﬁ 1%\

BEEQHRATEREE2025F3A3181E
FEMERRB (20245 : ) ©

BREF(FE)

SREXRBF(EHE)

KRa B ARG ESREXZEF (2024
FBBR)DREBERNARER ARLTE
M F1 49 16,827,000 7T (2024 F = 518
55,106,000/ 7T ) & F N E 817 E B IR AR 21
1,000,000,000 4% ( 2024 4F : 1,000,000,0000% )
FTE o

SRBERF,(BA)

R AN 52 B R L 2 20259 K 202443 A 31
AlFERMETENERTECH SR
B MR EETEEESRESAN (2024
F BB EGRAKRZF (20245 « B
B)FER e

=Z
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e

-
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

18. M5 - MERRE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office and
Leasehold computer Motor
Carpark improvement equipment vehicles Total
WAER
By HENREE  AEERE "E st
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TAT T THT TR TRT
Cost A
At 1 April 2023 120234 H18 3,150 4403 4162 4017 15732
Additions NE = 32 1,666 248 1,946
Wite-off i34 - (137) (1,260) - (1,397)
At 31 March 2024 and 202443 A31A R

1 April 2024 20244 A1R 3,150 4,298 4,568 4,265 16,281
Additions NE - - 2 364 366
Disposal/wiite-off HE /i - - (1,280) (3:292) (4572)
Exchange differences EHERE - - () - (2
At 31 March 2025 12025634318 3,150 4,298 3,288 1337 12,073
Accumulated depreciationand  EFHTER

impairment HE
At 1 April 2023 20234818 140 3856 2610 880 7486
Charge for the year FARZ 125 458 699 784 2,066
Write-off i34 = (137) (1,260) - (1,397)
At 31 March 2024 and 1202453 R318 &

1 April 2024 2024%4A18 265 4177 2,049 1,664 8,155
Charge for the year ERFY 125 4 903 456 1,526
Disposal/write-off HE /M - - (320) (1,317) (1,637)
Exchange differences BEHERE - - (1) - (1)
At 31 March 2025 1R202543A31R 390 4,219 2,631 803 8,043
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 March 2025 1R202543A31R 2,760 79 657 534 4,030
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3A318 2,885 121 2519 2601 8126
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

MR E

31 March 2025 202543431H

19. EAREEE

Leased

properties

HAEW=E

HK$'000

FAT

At 1 April 2023 7202344818 401
Additions NE 3,995
Depreciation e (999)
Exchange differences b =58 (14)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 MR2024%3 8318 &2024F4H1H 3,383
Additions NE =
Depreciation e (398)
Remeasurement upon lease modification (Note (b)) MEBRIEENT=(MFE®b) (2,984)
Exchange differences M =50 (1)

At 31 March 2025

202553 A31H

Note:

(@)

(d)

The Group has lease contracts for carparks, office premises and office
equipment. The lease of office premise is negotiated for a term of 5 years
for the year ended 31 March 2024. Carparks and office premise generally
have lease terms of 12 months or less and office equipment is individually
of low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group terminated the lease of
a property in PRC. Therefore, the Group derecognised the related right-of-
use assets of HK$2,984,000, resulting in gain on derecognition of lease of
HK$127,000 being recognised in profit or loss for the year.

Lease liabilities of Nil (2024: HK$3,432,000) are recognised with related
right-of-use assets of Nil (2024: HK$3,383,000) as at 31 March 2025. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.

=
B

Depreciation on right-of-use assets ERESENE

Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEABN ML
(included in finance costs) (GFARE R A)

Expenses relating to short-term lease BRNBEENAS
(included in administrative expenses) GTATTBRAY)

Expenses relating to lease of low-value assets FRREEEAEHEENHAS
(included in administrative expenses) (GEATTERFIZ)

REBMBEBER - PWRSHT RN R
BHEARY - HE2024F3A311IEFE I
AEHAYE TR AT - FEER
MRS —RA2E@AHAT -
&#ﬁ#“ﬂ%ﬂwﬁ@;ﬂﬁi o —MMmE -
7N 52 [8) AN A [ N 62 [ LA S A 88 5 K 4
MHEEEE -

HZE2025F3A31BIEFE - AEBKIE
FER-EMEZEE - Bt 0 KEBR
1 HE 32 468 B 165 B 4 4 7 2,084,000 7T -
BHRFER I EFERBE 2 WE127,000
BITRIBRAER °

R202543831H BMREEEEAS
(20244 : 3432,00078 7T ) B R {EFH ﬁé
BEBZT (20244 © 3383000/87T) °
HAFBOHEEEE 2 ERERI -

%u%i?ﬁﬂbﬂ{ifjﬁnﬁ °©
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
398 999
143 160
1,564 1,220
173 139

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in Note 35(c) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

20. REWE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

At 1 April R4A1H 130,200 125,400
Additions NE 1,593 23,945
Fair value change NEEE (19,193) (19,145)
At 31 March M3H31H8 112,600 130,200

The investment properties as at 31 March 2025 consist of 7 (2024: 7)
industrial buildings, located at Hong Kong to be leased out for one or
more operating leases with rental payable monthly. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 2 years. The leases of industrial buildings are
fixed over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease
arrangements, as all leases are denominated in HKD. The lease contracts
do not contain lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of
lease term.

At 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of investment properties
pledged as security for the Group’s bank borrowings as disclosed
in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements amounting to
HK$83,400,000 (2024: HK$97,800,000).

\\1 46 Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - =12 [% & B A R A7)
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M2025F3 31 AW EMEBIER —18
RZIELERE N KR ARERBESH7
1 (20244F : 7)) BB TEEF - Y —
BN AEEE - TERFHEEEMAE
REE e

REEARBE L P MAZINE R -
REAAREANETINE - HESOTE
SAEAEHERERSBEEYENRE
1E o

20253 A318 @ SREFERMERMFE30
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£ 1 97,800,000/ 7T ) ©
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value. The
investment properties were revalued by Masterpiece Valuation Advisory
Limited, an independent qualified valuer, who hold recognised relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience in the locations and
segments of the investment properties valued, at 31 March 2025 on an
open market value basis. For all investment properties, their current use
equates to the highest and best use.

The Group's finance department includes a team that review the
valuation performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting
purposes. This team reports directly to the senior management and
the Audit Committee. Discussions of valuation processes and results
are held between the management and valuers at least once every six
months, in line with the Group’s interim and annual reporting dates.

At each financial period end, the finance department verifies all major
inputs to the independent valuation reports; assesses property valuation
movements when compared to the prior year valuation reports; and
holds discussions with the independent valuer.

Valuation techniques

Fair value of investment properties for industrial building units in Hong
Kong is generally derived using the direct comparison method which
is based on comparing the property to be valued directly with other
comparable properties, which have recently transacted. However,
given the heterogeneous nature of real estate properties, appropriate
adjustments are usually required to allow for any qualitative differences
that may affect the price likely to be achieved by the property under
consideration.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year and
there were no transfers among the fair value hierarchy during the year.
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Valuation techniques (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair values of
these investment properties are determined as well as the fair value
hierarchy in which the fair value measurements are categorised based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

Carrying value of
investment properties

held by the Group in the Valuation

consolidated statement  Fair value technique(s) and

of financial positions hierarchy key input(s)

rEERGAMBRER ATE RERNTR AR

FENRENEREE 8 WARE

Industrial building units Level 3 Direct comparable - based

in Hong Kong on market observable

2025: HK$112,600,000 transactions of similar

2024: HK$130,200,000 properties and adjusted to
reflect the locations and
conditions of the subject
property.

EEIXETEN £31 ERTENREE-RER

20255 : 112,600,000 7T U ENTSTBER

2024%F © 130,200,000/ 7T HUEREARYE R
WERE KA ©

The valuations of investment properties were based on the economic,
market and other conditions as they exist on, and the information
available to management as of 31 March 2025. The volatility of Hong
Kong's property market caused the uncertainty of the assumptions
adopted in the valuation process and the future fair value of the
investment properties subsequent to 31 March 2025.
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TREHRBBZFRENERFEEES
AWERAR A FEFEREAFES
ABENABREEMES B QT ER
Ao

Relationship of

Significant unobservable

unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value

EXTABE AFERABE

BARE WABERR

Price per square feet, using The higher the price per
market direct comparable saleable square feet, the
and taking into account higher the fair value.

of location, age and other
individual factors with an
average of HK$3,101 (2024:
HK$3,637) per saleable
square feet.

BYRRERER(EAT™S  SAUETHERERES -
BEALER HEZ ATEHS -
B - 1B R E A
RIRE)  FHREAE
FAHER3101%7T(2024
F :363787T) ©

REMENGEDERRENKE - 15
R ELAB AR AR B B R # = 202593 A
JINEMASER - BEMENISKE S| %
AR AT ER A R R ) T HESE £ 4012025
FI[NAZRIREMENRKAFE ©
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21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 21. R—EBE QTN ER
2025 2024
20255 20244F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET AT
Unlisted investment: FEHRE :
Investment cost B A 0 _
Amount due from an associate (Note) JE i Bt 5 B R IB (B E) 52 -
0 Represent amount less than HK$1,000. 0 e 1,000 °
Note: The amount due is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on MizE - FEUGRIE BB - £ 8 RIZERKE
demand. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, settlement B ARREERR  BEARENAIR
is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. The ARORA IR TR ET B IR KA BRI AT -
directors of the Company considered that the amount as at the end of RRAFEEFRA  RBREHRBEHERE
the reporting period form part of the net investment in an associate. FER R & A AR EFEEM —F 5 -
Accordingly, the amount was classified as non-current. It - BRARIES S /AIERNE -
Details of the Group's associate at 31 March 2025 are as follows: HZE2025F3 31 B AL BB &S QRN

I=3UNE

Percentage of ownership

Place of Registered interest/voting power/
incorporation capital profit sharing Principal activities
FERRER RER
AR ER EREA EiERE ot FEXEK
2025 2024
20255 202445
Outloud Cultural Media Hong Kong HKS$100 40% - Media production
(Hong Kong) Limited
EAXLER(FB)BRAR &E 1004 7T 40% - EEERUE
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21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 21. R—EEBE AR AIERE)
The following table shows information on the associate that is T RIS B ISR AR AR AA
immaterial to the Group and accounted for using the equity method in RHHAEEB I IERNBE AT ER -

the consolidated financial statements.

2025 2024
20254 20244F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FEx FiBT
At 31 March: M3A318 :
Carrying amount of interests ez EREE = =
Year ended 31 March: BZE3A31AILLEE :
Loss and other comprehensive income for FEBEKIEMEEWZE
the year (494) =
22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22, ERNRIE RERHEMER
RECEIVABLES by |
2025 2024
20255 20244F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FEx FATT
Prepayments TE{SFRIE 2,129 2,192
Rental deposits Hekse 174 445
Due from ultimate holding company FEUW A AAE AR A R RIR 112 78
Due from an associate (Note) Uk B & N m B () 1,028 -
Other deposits and other receivables Hithize R E A IR 2,613 1,077
6,056 3,792
Less: Portion classified as non-current assets B DERIERBEENTD (1,063) (197)
Portion classified as current assets NERMEEENE S 4,993 3,595
Note: The amount due is interest-bearing at 4% per annum and repayable on MisE : FEUR SR IR IR E F| 4%t 2. WA 2026
11 July 2026. E7A11BER -
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to deposits ST A Lal A eR ) & b8 B BT BN B A
and receivables for which there was no recent history of default and SRR S RIESGRIBA KB ERIER
past due amounts. 7 -
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22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22,

23.

RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group has applied the general approach to provide for expected
credit losses for deposits and other receivables and considered past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions
in calculating the expected credit loss rate. As at 31 March 2025 and
2024, the expected credit loss rate for deposits and other receivables

was assessed to be minimal.

DEFERRED TAX

23,

The movements in deferred liability and asset during the year are as
follows:

FBNFIE -

5 (%)

AEEDER—MAEARTR R EMER
FEMBEREEEBHERELETETE
HEEBBRNE2BREEMF - BRIk
AR R A AR LA TR o 720254 K2 2024
F3A318 @ Be REMEKRFIENTES
EEBEBXRTEAMTRE -

IESEBL A

“=4

RERN - EEABREER

BEREEKR

E NN

Impairment
allowance
on trade
receivables Accelerated
and contract Tax losses tax
assets recognised depreciation
g5 ElsoE
REWEE EER POERBE
R ERRE BEEE BiE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHT FHT
At 1 April 2022 202264 A1 8 523 126 @n 628
Deferred tax credited/(charged) FRz AR/ (BBEN
to profit or loss during the year BR) HOAERERR 1A (Pt 5T 12)
(Note 12) 2,640 4,226 (34) 6,832
At 31 March 2024and 1 April 2024  72024F3A318 K&
2024554 A1 A 3,163 4,352 (55) 7,460
Deferred tax (charged)/credited FN(EBEMR) FTA
to profit or loss during the year BRRRERIR
(Note 12) (PFzE12) (2,423) (3,727) 436 (5,714)
At 31 March 2025 720253 A31H 740 625 381

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 - —E — U/~ R EF R

N\ -




Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

23. DEFERRED TAX (coninued) 23. IELEBIH %)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for TREFIBRERE BTSRRI TS R A IR
consolidated financial statement of financial position purposes: IERIE LSRR EER) 2 AT -

2025 2024

2025%F 20244F

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FEx FAT

Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIEAE = (55)

Deferred tax assets FIERIRE B 1,746 7,515

1,746 7,460
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately 20253 A318 + AEEMKREBIE
HK$7,924,000 (2024: HK$29,728,000) available for offset against &5 15 497,924,000 7T, (2024 4F : 29,728,000
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of BIT) - AR AR A c ERLEFE
HK$3,788,000 (2024: HK$26,375,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset 183,788,000/ 7T (20244F : 26,375,000 7T )
has been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$4,136,000 (2024: HWRIELERIBEE - RARNORF R TAITE
HK$3,353,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. B BEEEBE AR T 4,136,000 JT (2024 4F

3,353,000/ 70 ) HERIBEIEF BB £ ©

The Group's tax losses will expire in the following years: REEZ BIEEBEGRN AT EE &R
2025 2024
20254 20245
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
In 2029 7R2029%F 82 82
In 2030 720304 50 =
No expiry date & = m B HA 7,792 29,646
7,924 29,728
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24. CONTRACT ASSETS 24, EHNEE

2025 2024

20254 20244F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHT T

Contract assets BHEE

— Unbilled revenue —REZERWE 22,672 43,846

— Retention receivables —ERE S 40,455 29,892
63,127 73,738

Impairment allowance BB (7,526) (33,979)
55,601 39,759

Movements in gross carrying amounts of contract assets: AUEEEEAESE -

2025 2024

20254 20244F

HK$’000 HKS'000

FET T

At beginning of the year F1) 73,738 37,036
Additions in contract assets BHIBEEEM 47,976 57,129
Transfer to trade receivables BT E S ENFUE (48,394) (20,427)
Write off 5 (10,193) -
At end of the year FR 63,127 73,738

y

2
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24. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 24, SHEE#)

N

Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the Group’s
right to receive consideration for work completed and not yet billed
because the rights are conditional upon the quality and quantity check
by the customers on the construction work completed by the Group
and the work is pending for the certification by the customers. The
contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional, which is typically at the time when the Group
obtains the certification of the completed construction work from the
customers.

Retention receivables included in contract assets represent the Group's
right to consideration for work performed but not yet collectible
because the rights are conditional on the satisfaction of the service
quality by the customers over a certain period as stipulated in the
contracts. The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry
date of the period for the provision of assurance by the Group on the
service quality of the construction work performed by the Group.

The increase in contract assets in 2025 was the results of the increase in
the provision of construction services at the end of the year.

The Group's trading terms and credit policy with customers are
disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets is as

follows:

AFABRNEBEEZ RBEZ RS EAEER
BErEKERRERR s TRKIMREZ#E
M RAEHRBENAGEFEAREEM
TREETEREEERUERHTEER
BEMTRAFEPRA - WAHEERN
PRIGHFRBI(EFAKEBREE AT
REETRBEEFRA) AHEES
BREE SRR -

FFARHMBEZRERESEASEHRE
TERE R Ul 2 T2 W ERAR B 2 #EFI -
RERAEEENAFEFNAORTEN—
EHRAHREERRRmERT AE
' o WAHEBRRN A ZIGERS CGBE S
AEEREMTEREET R REERR
HRBHEZERER)  aHEEER
ERHEBHR -

R2025F A HEERMERANFRIEHEZ
SEARFEIEINFTER o

AEEREFNEZ RN EEBREE
TREA TSR M E 25

BETERER S WEEMNRRIT

2025 2024

20254 20244F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T

Within one year —F A 40,605 28,021
After one year —F1& 14,996 11,738
55,601 39,759
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24. ENEE®)
ANBEMRERBEBNT

24. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

The movements in impairment allowance of contract assets are as
follows:

2025 2024

2025%F 20244F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FAT

At beginning of year F] 33,979 650
(Reversal of provision)/provision for BB (BERE) BEFE

impairment allowance, net 13 (16,260) 33,329

Write off i gH (10,193) -

At end of year FXR 7,526 33,979

RERE A RRABEREETRED
i LA ERBEEER - fIEANEE

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates

for the measurement of the expected credit losses of the contract assets
are based on those of the trade receivables as the contract assets and
the trade receivables are from the same customer bases. The provision
rates of contract assets are based on days past due of trade receivables
for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns.
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 3
years. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that
is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group's contract assets using a provision matrix:

Expected credit loss rate TEEEEEER
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) REBE(THT)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TEEEEEE(TET)

EHEEEBENBEERTIERE S RUK
ENRREEERREE  REARANE
ERBEZHRIGEOREFA—FFE - &
HWEENBBRENABRLEBERREAR
ZAEF 2 8RB 5 R KA B
BETE - BHERXTIDEAE=FEEE
Té!%%%ﬁﬁlﬁ/eﬁj Zat B R R i A
EREHEEBENMNRS AHASENE
E‘ﬁi@&?l\ BRI R AR R B TE
A A IE M AT SEER -

TREIIERBREREFENAEEAL
BENEERREM

2025
20255
Individually
Current impaired
BPER & BRI A
8.96% 18.09%
42,641 20,486

3,822 3,704
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24. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 24. SNEE®)
2024
PLpZES

Individually

Current impaired

BIER &R E

Expected credit loss rate TEEMEERE X 22.02% 100.00%

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRERE(THET) 50,987 22,751

Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TEEEEEE(THT) 11,228 22,751

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES 25. €5 RIWFRIEA

2025 2024

20255 2024%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Trade receivables =) e e 10,193 36,817
Impairment allowance ERE (1,776) (19,433)
8,417 17,384

Trade receivables mainly represented receivables for contract works. ZHREWFIBEE AAH TREWRE -
Management generally submits interim payment applications to EHEEBRETEAMNT IR GRRE
customers on a monthly basis containing a statement setting out B BREHAEEEBY FAERRIIREN
management’s estimation of the valuation of the works completed in HEETTHET MK o TEHCEI R 3
the preceding month. Upon receiving the interim payment application, Bk BPRIRASMAER0RANZE
the quantity surveyors of the customer will verify such valuation of ERTTRAME - I3 R RE
works completed and issue an interim payment certificate within £ EELRENREERIOAAN - BF
30 days. Within 30 days after the issuance of the interim payment BERZBEPRENRESERNLER
certificate, the customer will make payment to the Group based on the XAFIE - WRBRENIBRERRES -

certified amount stipulated in such certificate, deducting any retention B S EW I A o

money in accordance with the contract. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.
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25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 25. ESRWRIR@®
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the R B R AR B 2 T E0EE A B A F0 Bk
reporting period, based on the progress payment certificate date and BEREERNE S EKFIENRE DTN
net of impairment allowance, is as follows: ™
2025 2024
20255 20244F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THExT FAT
Within 30 days 30K 6,657 9,587
3110 90 days 31E90K 1,760 7,578
91 to 120 days 91E120K - 212
Over 120 days B 120K - 7
8,417 17,384
The movements in impairment allowance of trade receivables are as B S EWTIER R ER G T
follows:
2025 2024
20255 20244F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FATT
At beginning of the year F1 19,433 2,520
Provision for impairment B
allowance, net 13 6,624 16,913
Write off e (24,281) -
At end of the year FR 1,776 19,433
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25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 25. 5 RWFHEA®
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a RERE AR R EEEETRED
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates - U ERHAEERRE - BEXTDHER
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments BEEBAUESBEXNZEREF 54858
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability- BHAHET - ZtERBEBIEMELS
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and R BERERNAREAHATENE@ER
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about FEIE - AR AR SRR TE R B
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic EENAISEER - —RiME © EHEWEK
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for TH 4078 HA R 38 120 K K T 78 R 1A o8 il 4
more than 120 days and are not subject to enforcement activity. TEERIT LA SE o
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TREFERABREEEAFENAEERE S
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: FEWFIENEERRER
As at 31 March 2025 2025538318

Past due
ik

Less than 31to Over Individually
Current 30 days 90 days 3 months impaired
P8 AWK 31E0KX  HBE3fEA {EREE

Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEE 3.52% 7.01% 15.93% 100.00% 45.27% 17.42%

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) FaeE(THr) 5,794 899 m 276 2,452 10,193

Expected creditloss (HKS000) REEEEE(TET) 204 63 123 276 1,110 1,776
As at 31 March 2024 202453 H31H

Past due
-

Less than 3110 Over Individually

Current 30 days 90 days 3 months impaired
08 PM0K 3NENK EBIEA {ERIAE

Expected creditloss rate BHEEEEX 2388% 3381% 6368% 9844% 100.00% 52.78%

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) RABE(TAT) 12,59 11,140 1,148 448 11487 36817

Expected credit loss (HK$'000) REEEEE(TET) 3008 3766 731 441 11487 19433
All trade receivables are denominated in HKD. B8 5 RNGIE LS TTEHE ©

\
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED

MR E

31 March 2025 202543431H

26. BERBESLSEERAUARER

BANK DEPOSITS RITFR

2025 2024
2025 2024%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Cash and bank balances & RIRITEERR 45,874 10,704
Bank deposits RITIFK 45,990 38,288
91,864 48,992

Less: Bank deposits pledged for R BRERTTROE PR IR 2 R T
banking facilities F 34(a) (38,656) (18,288)
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEHHEEE 53,208 30,704

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of
between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 March 2025, the bank and cash balances of the Group
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”") amounted to HK$382,000 (2024:
HK$523,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to
the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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MR2025F 3318 » AEBEUARE(TA
R D FHERRTT R IR © &5 £382,000
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27. TRADE PAYABLES 27. EFRNRIEA
2025 2024
2025 20244F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET T
Trade payables B N FRIA 49,844 58,833
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of reporting RIEARBIREZE R RERBBHZ5
period, based on the date of invoice and payment certificate, is as B S ENFIERRR DT T -

follows:

2025 2024
20255 20244F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FHETT
Within 30 days 30KA 34,938 53,579
31 to 90 days 31590K 9,804 3,500
91 to 180 days 91 £ 180K 2,991 898
Over 180 days BiB180K 2,111 856
49,844 58,833
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing. The payment terms of trade B ZRENFIEAL TGS - BHENFKIER
payables are stipulated in the relevant contracts with credit period of NHEAREABELNHAT EEH—KA
120 days (2024: ranges from 30 to 120 days) in general. 120K (20244F : M F30F120K) °
All trade payable are denominated in HKD. FrE 8 5N FRIEE B TTEHE -
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28. LEASE LIABILITIES

Notes to the Financial Statements )

Minimum lease payments

=

MEREME

31 March 2025 202543431H

28. HEEE

Present value of minimum
lease payments

BREHEEMN BREHENRZERE
2025 2024 2025 2024
20255 20244 2025 20244F
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FAT FExT T
Within one year —FA - 929 - 711
More than one year, but not —FU LB HEBMF
exceeding two years = 959 = 735
More than two years, but not ME LB HBBRF
more than five years = 2,221 = 1,986
- 4,109 - 3432
Less: Future finance charges B RREEER - 677) N/ATRERA NATER
Present value of lease obligations FA & H&IEIR(E - 3,432 - 3432
Less: Amount due for settlement & : ZBR 1218 A WET
within 12 months (shown HFIB(RREEE
under current liabilities) HFIR) - (711)
Amount due for settlement after 7B 12{E A 2B &Y
12 months IE - 2,721

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease
liabilities was 3.6% (2024: 3.6%) per annum.

The carrying amount of the Group's lease liabilities is denominated in

RMB.

HEaeF@aRmiETFIEsERiEs
FE36%(20244 1 3.6%) ©

AEBEERREZEREENDZARSBS

y
/
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29. PROVISION FOR RECTIFICATION WORKS 29. BRI TRRE
HK$'000
FA&T
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4H1H 9,544
Additional provisions REOMNE 3,456
Provisions used EBAEE (1,326)
Unused provisions reversed BB KRB (6,592)
31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 20243 A31H &20245F4H1H 5,082
Additional provisions REHMEE 6,503
Provisions used BB REE (487)
Unused provisions reversed BB KRB (1,118)
At31 March 2025 720253 H31H 9,980
The Group generally provides defect liability periods of one to two AEE—RERETIIRATFREH—
years to its customers for its works performed, during which defective EWFHRAETH - SRR IESET
works are rectified or replaced. The amount of the provision is estimated BN BIR - BB SR BE BTG
based on the past experience of the level of defective works and the TRRZ&EB TGt o et 2 EETIRE
estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where BEET AR RN EERERSET -
appropriate.
30. BANK BORROWINGS 30. SRITHER

2025 2024
20255 20244

HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT THAT

Mortgage loans — secured BBE R — HEE 6,344 6,701
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30. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(iif)

- ‘ G
~ N
Notes to the Financial Statements_____ .

The analysis of the repayment schedule of bank borrowings is as follows:

30. $R%

i

(i)

m

HEREME

31 March 2025 202543431H

TR (&)

RITEROERAIMAOT

Within one year or on demand —FRPIZEK 381 352
More than one year, but not exceeding —F U HETBBERF
two years 395 366
More than two years, but not more than MEA HEBETNBBRSF
five years 1,269 1,192
More than five years HEFNAE 4,299 4791
5,963 6,349
6,344 6,701
Less: Carrying amount of mortgage loans for B R —FREZASERENX
repayments after one year which contain a BRI IRBE RO ERE
repayment on demand clause (shown under BRRHEEETIIR)
current liabilities) (note (vi) i) 5,963 6,349

The bank borrowings are arranged at floating rate of the Best Lending
Rate for Hong Kong dollar quoted by The Hong Kong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited minus 1.8% per annum (2024: 1.8%), thus
exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and are denominated in
HKD.

As at 31 March 2025, the bank borrowings were secured by the legal
charge over the Group's investment properties as disclosed in Note 20 to
the consolidated financial statements, rental assignments and a corporate
guarantee executed by the Company.

The carrying amount of the Group’s bank borrowings is denominated in
HKD.

The Group's banking facilities are subject to the fulfilments of covenants
that certain subsidiaries of the Group are required to deposit a specific
percentage of their operating cash into the bank’s accounts. This
requirement is a common condition in lending arrangements with
financial institutions. If the subsidiaries fail to meet this requirement, the
related loans could become payable on demand.

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its borrowing
facilities during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: except two
subsidiaries of the Group breached the covenant requirement under bank
facilities with a bank, as the subsidiaries have not channeled required
percentage of their operating cash to their bank’s accounts).

The banking facilities for the mortgage loans include a repayment on
demand clause, granting the bank an unconditional right to request
repayment at any time at its discretion. As of 31 March 2025, the
mortgage loan included an amount of approximately HK$5,963,000 (2024:
HK$6,349,000) that, according to the repayment schedule outlined in the
mortgage loan agreement, is due more than one year after the reporting
period. However, due to the repayment on demand clause, this portion
of the loan has been classified as a current liability as of 31 March 2025,
in accordance with Hong Kong Interpretation 5: Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. B
2025 2024
2025 2024%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Authorised: YERE -
10,000,000,000 (2024: 10,000,000,000) 10,000,000,000% (20244F :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 10,000,000,0008% ) & %0.01
BTT . B 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITEEE :
1,000,000,000 (2024: 1,000,000,000) 1,000,000,000% (2024 4F :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 1,000,000,000% ) & A%0.01
BT E B 10,000 10,000
A summary of movements in the Company’s authorised and issued ARAREERBBEITRANES K S0
share capital is as follows: T

Number of Nominal value

ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
ZREREE EEREE
HK$'000
FA&T
Authorised: JRRE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, R2023F4 18 ~ 20244
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 3A318 « 2024F4 718 X%
202543 H31H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE :
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 2023418 ~ 20244
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 3A318 « 2024F4 818X
202543 H31H 1,000,000,000 10,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements B

31. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the
return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new shares, buy-
back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to
reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is the Group's
total debts (comprising lease liabilities and bank borrowings) over
its total equity. The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio at a
reasonable level. The Group's gearing ratio as at 31 March 2025 was
3.06% (2024: 5.32%). The decrease in the gearing ratio of the Group is
primarily due to the increase in equity as a result of the profit generated
for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The externally imposed capital requirements for the Group are: (i) in
order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a
public float of at least 25% of the shares; and (ii) to meet financial
covenants attached to the banking facilities granted.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors of the Company, as at the date of
this annual report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float
with at least 25% of the shares held by the public as required under the
Listing Rules.

Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank
to immediately demand repayment of borrowings. There have been
no breaches in the financial covenants of any bank borrowings for the
year ended 31 March 2025. For details of breach of financial covenant
during the year ended 31 March 2024, please refer to Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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1. BRA& &)
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o BIRRAEZFAER -
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RIBEBEANNEC 2B & E R R =L
EREAGBAFLRE - BERIFEE
BANGER  NEBEBERERS N - &
TTHR - BB - BERMER - BER
BEBH L EEEARDER

AEBRAEEAGBLERERERN A
B R DEASBENESBRE(BRIERE
BEMBITEIFOBUEESEEAE -
AEENBRABEEBEBL RRBES
IEKE o REEN2025F3A31BNEE
BELL T A3.06%(20245F 1 532%) o A
EEEEBELERTRETERREE2025F
3ANBILEFEEERN R A BEERIE M
FEK -

AEBMIMEERBR R - ((RARFR
D25% R RFE I E AR REE R P 7
R (i) 7B 8 <7 IR IR 1T AR & B 75 B9 B 75 32
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7h °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 32. QRN R
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company R B RS HA R A B 5 AR R B B A
at the end of the reporting period is as follows: I

2025 2024
20254 20244F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET T
NON-CURRENT ASSET FERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KERWB AT —* —*
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments SEANECE] 186 235
Due from subsidiaries e DY NGRS 31,337 6,613
Cash and cash equivalents R RkReEFHEEE 322 322
31,845 7,170
NET ASSETS EEZFE 31,845 7,170
CAPITAL AND RESERVES IR AR
Share capital (&N 10,000 10,000
Reserves (Note) fat e (k) 21,845 (2,830)
TOTAL EQUITY EREHE 31,845 7,170
2 Less than HK$1,000 * DHA,00078 7T
Approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025 and are signed on R2025F6 A30AKESSHERBAUT
its behalf by: EERREE
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa Mr. Chan Fai
PREELEE BRIE £
Director Director
EZE EE

\
\
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

Notes to the Financial Statements )

MR E

31 March 2025 202543431H

32. XATMHMBEMRREF @)

COMPANY (continued)
Note: B EE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARIEBERENT :

Share
premium Accumulated
account losses Total
IR 17 R E AR E-5y 3] st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T FHET FHT
At 1 April 2023 202354 R1H 91,369 (28,371) 62,998
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the  FF RIETIE & 2 A5 1E 4R %8
year - (65,828) (65,828)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 720243 A318 &2024F4 18 91,369 (94,199) (2,830)
Profit and total comprehensive loss for the 4 R I [ 2 T 518 42 58
year = 24,675 24,675
At 31 March 2025 2025434311 91,369 (69,524) 21,845
33. RESERVES 33. f#ie
(a) Group (@) AKE
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein REBNRARFEE RBEFENGE
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated CHEREFEHNGEEREDE
statement of changes in equity. 25 -
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (b) REHEERAZR

(i) Share premium (i)

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

(ii) Mergerreserve (ii)
The balances of the merger reserve as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 represent the aggregate of the paid-up share
capital of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group prior
to the completion of the reorganisation.
(iii) Foreign currency translation reserve (iii)

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in Note 4(d)(iii) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

At the end of the current and prior years, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

FRTIRITZHER
BRARES

Guarantees given to banks for:
Surety bonds

34. AREE

(a)

RAFERBEFER - AN
BREBEOIABENT

2025
20255

2024
2024%F
HK$'000
FBT

HK$000
TET

60,646 25,147

As at 31 March 2025, the surety bonds were secured by the
pledge of bank and other deposits of the Group amounting to
HK$40,176,000 (2024: HK$18,288,000) and corporate guarantee
executed by the Company amounting to HK$50,000,000 (2024:
HK$50,000,000) respectively.

A subsidiary of the Group is named as defendant in several claims,
lawsuits, and potential claims. These mainly relate to employee
compensation, personal injury, and workplace safety issues. The
directors of the Company have carefully considered each case
and determined that the likelihood of any financial outflows to
settle these legal claims is remote. This is because these claims are
either fully covered by insurance or are immaterial to the overall
financial position of the Group. As a result, the Company has not
found it necessary to record any provisions for these contingent
liabilities arising from the ongoing litigations.

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions
i

) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the proceed from
the disposal of property, plant, and equipment amounting
to HK$2,000,000 was offset by trade payables.

(ii) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recorded
a non-cash derecognition of right-of-use assets amounting
to HK$2,984,000 and lease liabilities amounting to
HK$3,111,000, arising from the remeasurement of leases
upon modification.
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202593 H318 » EERED R
7N £ [ £ 58 440,176,000 7T ( 2024
F 18,288,000/ 7T ) KR 1T Kk B Aib
GFHRERRARRREY 2R ER
50,000,000 7 7T ( 2024 4F : 50,000,000
Il (=i

AEEN—HHBERRKII RS E
BHEF - sFaA R BERFRE ° %
SHFFTEHEBSTHRE  AFEE
RIESHZEREER - ARF
EXCEREERHEEN - BAME
RZEIE BB MEREAM R
HE AR ER - ERZFHFD
HREEEABEXHNAEENE
BHERAMSBIEK - Et
ARRRAER M EEETH R
EEHZERN A ERHREABME -

35. REREREBRME

(a)

FEHRERS

() #HZE20255F3A31BLEFE -
HEME - WERZEZE
FXIE2,000,000/8 LB EHE 5 fE
TRIEH S o

(i) EZE20255F3A3NBILFE
EEs] 2 EEMTE5ER
BEERBEAEBEUIERESH
AR I RERR S 512,984,000 7T
3,111,000 7T ° ©
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HEBEME

31 March 2025 202543431H

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 35. MERERERMT )

CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) MEITBELENEEHR
activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising TRAMTEEREEZHEENE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash BENESY  BERSIIERSE
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for B mEEgELENBEAREN
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in EENHRKEEREFNAER
the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows REHERERANDERREETY
from financing activities. REmEmaRE -

Non-cash changes

FREED

Finance Remeasurement Foreign
1 April Net costs upon lease exchange 31 March
2024 cash flows recognised  modification movement 2025

20245 Rehg B2 HEBTR 20258
4B1H 58 HERK EifitE HESD 38318
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tan Tan TAT Tan Tan

Lease liabilities (Note 28) HERRE(ME) 3,432 (464) 143 (3111) -0 =
Bank borrowings (Note 30)  $R4THEF(Fit&E30) 6,701 (608) 251 - - 6,344

10,133 (1,072) 394 (3,111) = 6,344

Non-cash changes

Finance Addition of
1 April Costs right-of-use (
2023 ‘ movement

WBE

418 2y FRES 28
HK$000 0 0 HK$'000
TAL L 57 BT TAT

Lease liabilties (Note 28) HEAE () 47 (1,147) 160 3,99 (13) 3432
Bank borrowings (Note 30)  #R73{E R (H&E30) = 6,516 185 - - 6,701
837 5369 345 395 (13) 10133

0 Represent amount less than HK$1,000 U B 1,000/E 7T
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR

31 March 2025 202543431H

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 35. MERERERMT )

CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERSHRHAK
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for leases RHEEF AR S RERNESERIE
comprise the following: AR &IE :
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET THET
Within operating cash flows KERSREHEN 1,880 1519
Within financing cash flows RERSREEEA 321 987
2,201 2,506
These amounts relate to the following: ZESTHEETEIEER

20244

HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT THAT

Lease rental paid BEfHES 2,201 2,506
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36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessee

(@ On 7 March 2025, the Group entered into a new lease for the use
of office premises in PRC through its wholly owned subsidiary,
namely Wah Wo Wuhan, for a fixed term of 5 years commencing
from 8 April 2025 to 7 April 2030 with non-cancellable and
without extension options. The total future undiscounted
cash flows over the non-cancellable period amounted to
approximately RMB1,030,000.

(b)  The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating lease are payable as follows:

P R
s B ¢ X,
) S -
E N ~Te -
e N\ N

HEBEME

31 March 2025 202543431H

36. REHELH

AEBERAEHEA

(@) M2025F387H  AEBEBBESR
BB AR EMRIZRFERLNE
oA AMETIHHEE  Exl
HASEFE  [B2025%F4 A8H#E ZE20304F
4R781E - TAHEE R EEREE
1 o N AT BUEEHA R 2 R R AR BLIR
REeRERTE AL ARK1,030000
ik

b) FAIHHKEEER TEMHIARK
REREMNREELT

2025 2024
20255 20244

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR T

Within one year (Note) —F AR

347 496

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group entered into
a short-term lease for an office premise in Hong Kong and the
outstanding lease commitments relating to the office premise is
HK$347,000 (2024: HK$496,000).

The Group as lessor

Operating leases relate to investment property owned by the Group
with lease terms of 2 years. The lessee does not have an option to
purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

MRt B Z2025F3A3HIEFE - A%
EH—BARE SN AMEST
VEHHEE  mMBAMEMLABEN
M A (8 32 0 E R 5 347,000 7T
(2024%F : 496,000/87T) °

REBEESHEA
REMEPRAKERENRENE - H
Him2F - HEHE R - AAAEER
EEAYUE

HEMSERKEENKET

2025 2024
20255 20244

HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT TAT

Within one year —FK 1,381
In the second year BF 97
Total #Et 1,478
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31 March 2025 202543431H

36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (continued) 36. KEHEZH#®)
The Group as lessor (continued) AEBEAHBEAE)
The following table presents the amounts reported in profit or loss for TREVRKEDFNERRENERE -

investment properties:

2025 2024
20255 20244F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FTHER FAT
Rental income AW A 3,688 2,018
Direct operating expenses HELERY (847) (643)
Other operating expenses Hib e EmM= (831) (937)
2,010 438
37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BEBARS
(a) Compensation of key management personnel of the (a) AEEFTEEEASNHM
Group
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, INGEARLE 3230k SR =$:
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors, chief AEWFMN(BEENEARRES -
executive and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed THBeHEEkETE=FHE IAIFKIEA)
in Note 15, was as follows: LU
2025 2024
2025 2024%F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FEx FAT
Salaries and allowances e ROER 4,590 4,428
Discretionary bonus BIBTEAL 1,845 538
Retirement benefit for defined TE R ARG 8l 2 RIKE R
contribution plans 920 90
6,525 5,056

\§
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

MR E

31 March 2025 202543431H

37. BBAERZ 2

(b) In addition to the balances, arrangements and transactions (b) BRTEXSVERRMZEFERS
detailed elsewhere in these financial statements and Report of FEITHINGEH  ZHRERS
the Directors, the Group had the following transactions with O - REBRNF N HEITH
related parties during the year: REWT -

2025 2024
20254 2024%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FET
(i) Lease payments paid to () T3 TR AR R 2 B8
Ms. Wong Chun Siu, the spouse BEEEZTMHHEENK
of the Controlling Shareholder 1,190 1,432
(i) Employee benefit expenses paid to (i) S FIERRAR B 2 B 5L
Mr. Chen Zhenchuan, the brother FRiR) e v B BRI
of the Controlling Shareholder 525 525
(iii) Rental income from an associate (i) 2R 8 —EEE QA F WA A 926 -
(iv) Loan interest income from an (iv) 2R B — B 2R B E L&
associate A 28 -
The transactions were conducted on terms and conditions ZERSTIRBEASEEREETLD
mutually agreed between the Group and the related parties. 73 2[RI TE O GRTR B MR HETT o

(c) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the transactions in respect () #H=Z=2025F3A31HIFE » Eilib)
of item (b)(i) above are also a continuing connected transaction WEMRZ ST A LEMRANE14ATE IR
as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are THAENBERERSD  BHR
exempted from reporting, annual review and independent B ETRAIEUARETRR - F
shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. EERE KB R B -

38. LOAN COMMITMENT 38. EXNAIE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had an outstanding loan commitment
of HK$1,000,000 (2024: Nil). This loan commitment represents the
undrawn amount available to an associate under the loan facility
arrangement granted by the Group.

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no other significant events after the reporting period up to
the date of this report.

HZE205F3A31H  AEBKEEE
FEYEA1,0000008 70 (20245 « F) ° 3%
BRREANEBME L EREEZHEE
TR — R E A R IV R IEER G BE ©

BEHRREE

RBEMEREEAREASELBE
REIH °

39.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMBIHE

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity of the Group forthe ~ Fsk B HRIRER R E TIB K& EZP B RREB
last five financial years, as extracted from the Prospectus and the published FHEMBFE 2 AEEEEREE - BER
audited financial statements, is set out below. This summary does not form S EEFH 0T o ANHE S I TR AL =A% B
part of the audited financial statements. Bz —Eb7 °

For the year ended 31 March

HE3ANALEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

20254 20244 20234 20226 20214

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAHT FAT FHT FAT

Revenue WS 482,123 238425 208,350 223,19 350,847

Gross profit EH 55,732 21,250 25,263 16,322 21,381

Profit/(loss) before tax B AR (BE) 24,036 (61,953) 4,056 1,878 8310

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive G RE R/ (518 ) K

income/(expense) for the year 2EWE (X)) #EE 16,733 (55,116) 2852 1424 5,952

Non-current assets FERBEE 118,411 149421 138462 90,032 9974

Current assets MEIEE 161,955 120351 143,131 177,719 256,235

Total assets BEE 280,366 269,772 281,593 267,751 266,209

Current liabilities mEaE 73,004 76,367 35827 24421 22793

Net current assets mEEEFE 88,951 43,984 107,304 153,298 233,442

Total assets less current liabilites ~ BEERAEAE 207,362 193,405 245,766 243,330 243,416

Net assets BEFE 207,362 190,629 245,745 242,893 241,469
Equity attributable to ownersof  BREBRANABHAE AR

the Company by 207,362 190,629 245,745 242,893 241,469
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Particulars of Properties .

MEEE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES BEYE

Approximate

Land lease total gross Group
Location expiry floor area interest
B 3 T EEER BHRREEE REEER
(sg.m.)
(F7)
Hong Kong
i
6/F, Sang Chong Industrial Industrial 2096 465 100%

Building, 11-13 Ka Hing Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories
MARZBRERK11-135% o
HEETIEREAE

7/F, Sang Chong Industrial Industrial 2096 465 100%
Building, 11-13 Ka Hing Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories

MARZLBRERI-135 T¥#

HEETIERE7Z

Workshop A-B, 2/F, Industrial 2096 1,066 100%
Lee King Industrial Building,

12 Ng Fong Street,

San Po Kong, Kowloon

FBERTE R RS T 125% S

MR ITERENEARBIIER

Factory B, 4/F of Kwai Shing Industrial 2096 393 100%
Industrial Building (Phase 1),

36-40 Tai Lin Pai Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories

IREPAEREBE36-4097 T

B T %A — HIiZR R y
Factory G, 2/F of Kwai Shing Industrial 2096 762 100% /
Industrial Building (Phase 2), /
42-46 Tai Lin Pai Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories

AR AERE42-465% 1%

ERTHEKRE_HEGH

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 - =% = U/ = FF F i 175

L




N

Particulars of Properties

L E 2531

Location

L8

Factory D, 13/F of Kwai Shing
Industrial Building (Phase 1),
36-40 Tai Lin Pai Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories
RN E B E36-405%
BRTERNE—#38
D&

Factory E, 4/F of Kwai Shing
Industrial Building (Phase 2),
42-46 Tai Lin Pai Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories
T SRER A B B 42-465%
ERTERE _H4EERK

Approximate

Land lease total gross

expiry floor area

T HEEER BMORREER

(sg.m.)

(F73K)

Industrial 2096 283
I%¥

Industrial 2096 265
I%
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Group
interest

AEMER

100%

100%





